

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Review

Nanomaterials and the environment: A review for the biennium 2008-2010

Jose R. Peralta-Videa^a, Lijuan Zhao^a, Martha L. Lopez-Moreno^c, Guadalupe de la Rosa^d, Jie Hong^b, Jorge L. Gardea-Torresdey^{a,b,*}

^a Department of Chemistry, The University of Texas at El Paso; 500 West University Ave., El Paso, TX 79968, United States

^b Environmental Science and Engineering PhD program, The University of Texas at El Paso; 500 West University Ave., El Paso, TX 79968, United States

^c Department of Chemistry, University of Puerto Rico at Mayagüez, PO Box 9000, Mayagüez, PR 00681, USA

^d División de Ciencias e Ingeniería, Campus León, Universidad de Guanajuato, Loma del Bosque 103, C.P. 37150, León, Gto., Mexico

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 October 2010 Accepted 4 November 2010 Available online 11 November 2010

Keywords: Nanoparticles Nanotoxicology Transport of nanoparticles Nanoparticles biotransformation

ABSTRACT

Applications of nanotechnology are touching almost every aspect of modern life. The increased use of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) in consumer products, chemical and medical equipment, information technology, and energy, among others, has increased the number of publications (informative and scientific) on ENMs. By the 1950s, very few papers were committed to nanomaterials (NMs), but in 2009, more than 80,000 journal articles included the concept nanotechnology. The objective of this review is to compile and analyze publications on NMs in the biennium 2008–2010. This review includes the most recent publications in risk assessment/toxicity, characterization and stability, toxicity, fate and transport of NMs in terrestrial ecosystems, and new ENMs. Carbon nanotubes, metallic, metal oxides and hydroxides nanoparticles, quantum dots, and polystyrene NPs are included.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction	2	
2.	Engin	Engineered nanomaterials: composition, characterization, and stability		
	2.1.	Engineered nanomaterials composition	3	
	2.2.	Characterization of engineered nanomaterials	5	
	2.3.	Engineered nanomaterials stability	6	
3.	Toxici	ity of nanomaterials	6	
	3.1.	Nanoecotoxicity	6	
	3.2.	Bacteria	7	
	3.3.	Aquatic nanotoxicology: the importance of testing aquatic invertebrates	7	
	3.4.	Nanotoxicity studies in terrestrial organisms	7	
	3.5.	Testing nanotoxicity in human and other mammalian cells	8	
	3.6.	Studies in higher plants	8	
	3.7.	Evidence of biotransformations	9	
4.	Fate a	IND TRANSPORT OF NPS IN TERRESTIAL ECOSYSTEMS	9	
	4.1.	Sources and environmental amounts of NP in terrestrial ecosystems	9	
	4.2.	Possible behavior of NP in soil media	9	
	4.3.	Behavior and transport of NPs in soil solution	9	
	4.4.	Interactions of NPs with soil organic matter	10	
	4.5.	Interactions of NPs with soil minerals	10	
	4.6.	Interaction with existing soil contaminants	10	
	4.7.	Transport of NP in soil columns	10	

doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.11.020

^{*} Corresponding author at: University of Texas at El Paso, Chemistry and Environmental Science & Engineering PhD program, 500 W. University Avenue, Physical Science Bldg., Room 201, El Paso, TX 79968-0513, United States.Tel.: +1 915 747 5359; fax: +1 915 747 5748. *E-mail address: jgardea@utep.edu* (J.L. Gardea-Torresdey).

^{0304-3894/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

	4.8. Transport by terrestrial organisms	10
5.	New nanoproducts	12
	Acknowledgements	12
	References	12

1. Introduction

As time passes, the debate concerning the nomenclature linked to nanoscience and nanotechnology is becoming less and less voiced. Conversely, day after day it is becoming popular that the term nanomaterials (NMs) includes natural or manmade particles with at least one dimension of 100 nm or less, while nanoparticles (NPs) include those with at least two dimensions between 1 and 100 nm [1].

Nanotechnology has advanced in all fronts: instruments, goods, literature, and profits. According to the Project on Engineering Nanotechnologies [2], since March 2006–August 2009, 212 new nanotechnology-based products (increase of 379%) have been added to the consumer products list, totaling 1025 items produced by 485 companies situated in 24 countries. Pertaining to the literature, an analysis of publications available in electronic data bases indicates that the number of articles on NMs has increased from a very few papers at the beginning of the NM studies in the 1950s, to more than 80,000 journal articles in 2009 that include the con-

cept nanotechnology. Likewise, revenues for nanotechnology and nanomaterials in consumer products were approximately US\$1545 million in 2009 [3]. This is expected to increase to \$5335 million by 2015, driven by the demand for consumer electronics and household cleaning products segments [3].

A search using as engines Sciencedirect.com, Google, and Scifinder has shown that in the biennium 2008–2010, 15 outstanding articles reviewing risk assessment, safety surveys, and NMs toxicity were published (Table 1). As seen in this table, most of the articles refer to uncertainties on NMs toxicity and the needs for more information on NMs handling to prevent environmental and human health effects after long exposure. Pertaining to risk assessment, a study including 40 industries from Switzerland and Germany showed that 26 companies (65.0%) did not perform any risk assessments and 13 (32.5%) performed risk assessments 'sometimes' or 'always' [4]. In addition, Conti et al. [5] surveyed the safety practices at 82 organizations that either manufacture, handle, research, or use NMs in North America, Asia, Europe, and Australia. Results showed that almost 75% of the organizations

Table 1

Review papers published in the biennium 2008-2010 describing nanoparticle toxicity and risk assessment

Nanomaterial	Risk assessment/Toxicity	Major findings/Contents	Reference
Manufactured nanomaterials	Toxic effects of NMs in aquatic and soil systems	Review of the existing NMs research in freshwater, marine and soil environments. Discuss the risk assessment and the effect of NMs to the environment	[1]
Engineered nanomaterials	Risk assessment on 40 companies working with NMs in Germany and Switzerland	Twenty-six companies (65%) indicated that they did not perform any risk assessment of their NMs and 13 companies (32.5%) performed risk assessments sometimes or always	[4]
Nanomaterials	Health and safety practices in the NMs workplace worldwide	Findings of an international survey of NMs firms and laboratories about what they have done about health and safety. Risk communication is required to further the implementation of environmental health and safety programs	[5]
Nanoparticles	Health risk for humans	Personal protection equipment is needed to work with NMs. Specific medical evaluation protocols must be designed for exposure to NPs	[6]
Engineered nanoparticles	Toxicological effects on animals and how to work safety with NMs	Discuss some practices in universities to prevent exposure, such as using exhaust ventilation and gloves. Specific toxic effect of some NPs	[7]
Nanoparticles	Exploiting methods and tools to figure out adverse effects of manufactured NPs in the environment	A center has been created to study the implications of nanotechnology in the environment	[8]
Metallic nanoparticles	Relationship between chemical stability and vitro toxicity	Chemically stable metallic NPs have no significant cellular toxicity. Unstable NPs are cytotoxic and even genotoxic for cellular organisms	[10]
Nanoparticles	New technology and more effort are needed in order to know exactly the risks of NPs	Current literature does not provide clear information about ecotoxicology and environmental risk assessment of NMs	[11]
Waste containing nanomaterials	Toxicity to organisms and risk assessment to environment	Toxicity of NMs, risk assessment for NPs in the environment and remediation of NPs. There is a lack of information about the treatment of nanowaste	[13]
Engineered nanoparticles	Life-cycle concepts provide a means for identification of priorities for risk assessment	Studying the whole life cycle of NPs can help us to discover the possible impacts of NPs to environment and people	[14]
Nanomaterials	Potential risks of NMs towards human health	NM can be used in tissue engineering. There is still to clear information about NMs toxicity to humans	[15]
Engineered nanoparticles	Stages and methods of risk assessment of engineered NP	Specific information on how to do risk assessment of engineered NPs is needed	[16]
Engineered nanoparticles	Interactions with organisms and ecotoxicity of engineered NPs	The bioavailability of NPs, their uptake by algae, plants, and fungi and the toxicity mechanisms are still not well understood	[17]
Nanoparticles	NPs cause serious health effects on the cardiovascular and respiratory system	NPs cause serious health effects on the cardiovascular and respiratory system. Combustion in motor traffic and tobacco smoke are the main sources of exposure to NPs	[18]
Nanomaterials	Persistence, bioaccumulation, toxicity of NMs in environment	NanoImpactNet provides a discussion forum for the impact of NMs on human health. The physicochemical characterization of NMs is important for environmental studies and there is a need to have test materials for ecotoxicology	[19]

did not have a nanospecific health and safety program but most of them (89%) implemented a general environmental health and safety program. Also, a high percentage of the organizations with more than 1000 employees did not provide safe use guidance for the nanoproducts [5]. A feature article by Hoyt and Manson [6] has described the advantages and risk associated to nanotechnology, pinpointing people at risk due to their connection to NMs. At first level are researchers and workers - and their family members - in NM-connected industries, followed by consumers and the general public. Hoyt and Manson [6] have stated that despite the rapid pace of nanotechnology related research, development, and commercial exploitation, by the end of 2006, there were no standards or regulations to govern these activities. This gives an idea of the risk perception at the NM-related organizations and the risks the environment would be exposed to in case of an accidental or intentional NPs spill. Another feature article [7] describes the best practices used at universities and other enterprises to prevent exposure to NMs. The authors remark that academic researchers manage NMs as dangerous substances. For personal protection, they work in the fume hood not in lab benches, transport NMs in sealed containers, and use personal protection equipment (gloves, lab coats, goggles). To prevent lab contamination, wipe hood and other possible contact sources and have spill kit on hand to prevent exposure on spill. They manage NMs and NM-contaminated lab materials as hazardous waste until specific regulations appear. In this way, academic institutions contribute to a better handling of nanomaterials.

Governmental agencies in the United States are taking actions to decrease uncertainties in assessing the exposure and risks derived from nanotechnology. The National Science Foundation jointly with the Environmental Protection Agency created two centers to determine the fate and interactions of NMs in complex environments. These two centers, the Center for the Environmental Implications of Nanotechnology (CEIN) at the University of California - Los Angeles (The University of Texas at El Paso is part of the CEIN) and the Center for the Environmental Implications of NanoTechnology (CEINT) at Duke University were established to generate basic knowledge on NPs toxicity at organismal and community levels and to generate models to predict the NP effects in ecosystems [8]. CEINT is specifically focused on the determination of properties and conditions influencing the distribution of nanoparticles in the environment, the differences between natural and fabricated NMs, possible "nano" effects beyond the surface area effect, and the way we can do risk assessments on an emerging technologv

According to the Nanotechnology Law Report [9], the United States Government Accountability Office (GAO-10-549, June 27, 2010) has stated: "Nanomaterials are widely used in commerce, but EPA faces challenges in regulating risk." The Law Report [9] highlighted that one of the handicaps is that EPA lacks the technology to monitor and characterize these materials.

A worthwhile reading review on the chemical stability of metallic nanoparticles appeared in 2009 [10]. In that review, Auffan et al. [10] have pointed out that the fate of NMs in the environment and within organisms may be dissolution dependent. The authors gathered information about the comparative toxicity of ZnO and TiO₂ NPs to *in vitro*-cultured mammalian cells. Higher toxicity was observed in cells exposed to ZnO NPs, which exhibits higher dissolution patterns compared to TiO₂ NPs. Another example is the lower toxicity of coated compared to uncoated quantum dots (QD) CdSe. The toxicity was related to the Cd ions released to the medium by the uncoated QD. Apparently, the toxicity exhibited on cell culture can be extrapolated to organisms. However, there is no data so far to corroborate this thought. In addition, it seems that the phase transformations of NPs are size related. For instance, TiO₂ NPs shows three crystalline structures, anatase, rutile, and brookite, which are of different size. These size-dependent phase transformations are involved in the toxicity of TiO₂ towards single cell organisms [10]. As pointed out by Lubick [11] such variability "can make reference materials particularly hard to develop for agencies like the U.S. National Institute of Standards and Technology. That variability makes comparisons between studies difficult and lab protocols tricky to universalize." The Gardea-Torresdey research group at the University of Texas at El Paso has reported that CeO₂ NPs are comparatively more toxic to soybean plants (Glycine max L.) than ZnO NPs [12]. This complicates the panorama about toxicity because the nanoceria are less soluble than ZnO NPs. There is a lack of information for several aspects of NMs such as use and handling of the nanowaste [13], life cycle of most of the NM in use [14], toxicity of NMs to human tissues [15], or how to do risk assessment [16]. Other aspects about NMs in need of study are: determination of bioavailability in different environments [17], levels of toxicity to tissues and individuals [18], and the scarcity of test materials for ecotoxicology studies [19].

Pertaining to nanomaterials synthesis and applications, 22 review papers were published in the biennium of 2008-2010 (Table 2). As seen in this table two detailed reviews described the application of QD in nanoelectronics [20,21]. The synthesis of NMs describing formation methods of oxide NPs, inorganic-organic NMs, carbon nanotubes, and chalcogenide NMs was also reviewed [22–26]. Catalysis was also extensively reviewed. The use of carbon nanotubes (CNTs) - inorganic materials [27], catalyst in fuel cell reaction [28], catalytic power of metal NPs [29] and silicacoated NMs [30] were worthwhile reviews to read. The use of NMs to determine soil properties [31] and detect persistent organic pollutants [32] was also summarized. Another area extensively reviewed in 2008-2010 was nanobioscience. Reviews on functionalization of plant viruses to form electroactive NPs [33], use of NMs in controlling the biochemical microenvironment of cells [34], in vivo nanocarriers for RNAi delivery [35], and starch NP formation [36] appeared in the biennium 2008-2010. Also, subjects like nano-optic [37], the fabrication and application of boron nitrite nanotubes [38], electron-beam induced deposition [39], the use of NMs in lithographic techniques [40], and the use of NPs in medical applications [41] were also reviewed. Twenty-two reviews in 2 years is a clear indication of the number of publications and the activity in the field of nanotechnology.

2. Engineered nanomaterials: composition, characterization, and stability

2.1. Engineered nanomaterials composition

Engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) encompass those NPs synthesized and modified in order to enhance their performance in several technological and industrialized processes [42]. A number of ENMs are currently manufactured from different sources depending on their potential applications. Nanomaterial composition differs according to their formulation. Fullerenes and CNTs are NMs classified as carbon-based materials, QD as semiconductors, and metal oxides are considered as inorganic NPs [43]. ENMs are being synthesized as independent nanometric units, or modified by methods and solvents to arrange their structures to form wires, sheets, disks, rings, or fibers [1]. Carbon-based NMs are particles called fullerenes (nC_{60}), which typically are insoluble in water. These particles are capable of aggregating in nanotube structures or organic complexes that allow dispersion in aqueous solutions [44].

QD, regardless of their physical properties are considered semiconductors. The manufacturing of these materials is based on the strict control of the crystal size and shape which allows for con-

Table 2

Review papers describing nanomaterials synthesis and nanotechnology applications published in the biennium 2008–2010.

Nanoparticles	Nanotechnology/Research area	Major findings/Contents	Reference
Quantum dots	Complex charge transport nanoelectronic system	Methods to treat correlation effects, quantum fluctuations, non-equilibrium physics, and the time evolution into the	[20]
Quantum dots	Graphene as a host for spin qubits	stationary state of complex nanoelectronic systems are explained The advantages and challenges to use graphene quantum dots for spin qubits as compared to the more standard materials like GaAs. Graphene nanoribbons, a disk single layer graphene, and a disk in	[21]
Nanomaterials in general	Synthesis of NMs	bilayer graphene are described Recent developments and trends in combustion science towards the synthesis of NMs are described	[22]
Ciria-based nanomaterials	Controlled synthesis	Controlled synthesis of ceria-based NMs to manipulate the shape, crystal plane and size is highlighted	[23]
Nanostructured materials	Synthesis of organic-inorganic NMs	Description of specific properties of supercritical fluids exploited for synthesizing functional nanostructured materials, especially in the field of inorganic and hybrid materials	[24]
Carbon nanomaterials	Synthesis of shaped NMs	Organometallic complexes such as ferrocene have been used as catalysts to make carbon materials with distinctive shapes. Reactor type and presence of heteroatoms (N, O, S, P) determine the final type of carbon	[25]
Chalcogenide nanomaterials	Fabrication of NMs	Two different approaches to create nanoscale transition metal chalcogenide materials: chemical nanofabrication (control of size and shape) and use of a molecular precursor to create one and two dimensional nanostructures of (NbSe ₂ and NbSe ₂ , TaS ₂ , TaSe ₂ , respectively)	[26]
Carbon nanotubes and inorganic NM	Applications of CNTs in catalysis, energy conversion, chemical sensors	Description of the preparation and applications of inorganic NM/carbon nanotube composites	[27]
Nanostructured catalysts	Nanocatalysis	Development and evaluation of the electrocatalytic performance of nanoengineered catalysts in fuel cell reactions are discussed	[28]
Metal nanoparticles	Synthesis and catalysis	Description of the new findings and challenges in the field of NP-based catalysis, including the role played by the particle structure and morphology, its chemical composition and oxidation state and the effect of the cluster support	[29]
Silica-coated nanomaterials	Spectroscopy, magnetism, catalysis and biology	Analysis of recent advancements in the synthesis of silica-coated NMs and their significant impact in different areas such as	[30]
Nanomaterials	Environmental sciences	pectroscopy, magnetism, catalysis and blongy Describes a variety of nanostructures present in soil and their role to determine soil properties	[31]
Nanomaterials	Environmental sciences	Review of detection and treatment of persistent organic pollutants though NMs and analytical nanotechnology. Surface-enhanced Raman scattering, surface plasmon resonance, fluorescence, and	[32]
Electroactive NPs	Nanobioscience	electrochemistry in detection are some of the described techniques This review describes how a plant virus can be functionalized on its outer surface to form electro active NPs, can be used to construct monolayers on solid surfaces and multilayer arrays by a bottom–up, layer-by-layer approach to form monodisperse nanoparticles. The review also describes the potential application	[33]
Nanomaterials	Nanobioscience	of the virus-derived NPs NMs can provide a means to control the biochemical and mechanical microenvironment of cells. Hydrogel NMs, nanofibrous scaffolds, and layer-by-layer structures are depicted. Special features of NMs for in situ cell delivery and tissue regeneration and	[34]
Nanocarriers	Nanomedicine	NMs for in situ cell therapeutics – caveats are also described <i>In vivo</i> applications with special emphasis on the strategies for RNAi delivery in to immune cells. More than 20 nanocarriers are	[35]
Starch NPs	Nanobioscience	This review contains an overview of starch nanoparticle	[36]
Zinc oxide nanorods	Nano-optics	Recent advances in growth of ZnO nanorods and results from both low temperature and high temperature growth approaches are presented	[37]
Boron nitride nanotubes	Fabrication and application of boron nitride nanotubes	Analysis of the up-to-date developments in boron nitride nanotubes, including theory, fabrication, structure, physical properties, chemical functionalization and applications. The use in hydrogen storage, biocompatibility tests, and composite materials	[38]
Functional nanostructures	Electron-beam-induced deposition	Tabrication is described Review and comparison of techniques specifically aimed at purifying the as-deposited impure electron-beam-induced	[39]
Nanostructures	Use of lithographic techniques	An overview of the best resolution obtained with several types of both organic and inorganic resists for the fabrication of	[40]
Heparin-based nanoparticles	Chemical and biological properties	hanosa actures using nanographic techniques. The e-beam resist, hydrogen silesquioxane is described Anticoagulant activity, anticancer and antitumor therapy, tissue engineering and biosensors	[41]



Fig. 1. Nanomaterial classification according to their physical and chemical properties.

trol over the conductivity and energy release [45]. Some metal NMs are covered by surfactants in the manufacturing processes. This type of modification affects the dissolution behavior of the NPs because of their dissimilar agglomeration or aggregation in the media. Other processes allow alteration of the charge in atoms to form the external surface of the NPs. Furthermore, magnetic NPs are being synthesized and employed to remove Cr(VI) from contaminated waters [46].

As mentioned before, NMs are able to modify their shape, surface area, particle charge, and crystal arrangement due to their physical and chemical behavior [46]. Moreover, properties of ENMs can be tailored because of the amount of atoms lying on the surface of the material [45]. TiO₂ NPs represent a clear example of correlation between composition and chemical properties. Different phases in TiO₂ NPs were demonstrated to have dissimilar photocatalytic activities. Anatase, which is the predominant phase composition in TiO₂ NPs, shows the highest activity [43]. In addition, some NMs are coated or capped with small amounts of oxides to increase their chemical properties like dispersibility and conductivity, as well as to avoid aggregation of the NPs. When NPs tend to aggregate, the behavior of the cluster formed will be different. Moreover, syntheses of ENMs need to be specific in controlling size, shape, crystal structure, and aggregation. Fig. 1 shows NMs classification according to their composition [47].

ENMs are manufactured directly by chemical synthesis and/or sometimes by physical processes such as grinding or milling to obtain the appropriate size. However, NMs manufactured by physical methods usually require more control in order to obtain the adequate shape and size [1]. Manipulation of some chemical parameters in NMs synthesis such as pH, temperature, solute precipitation and concentration can produce NMs with magnetic properties which make them suitable for drug delivery and tissue restoration [48]. ENMs are monodispersed particulates dissimilar from the natural occurring NMs, which typically are polydispersed with more complex structures [45].

Numerous studies are currently being conducted to produce and to manipulate NMs for drug delivery, diagnosis, and targeting of several types of cancerous cells. Examples of these materials are mesoporous silica NPs, superparamagnetic iron oxide NPs, and Cd/Zn-selenides [48,49]. Due to their large surface as well as their atom's arrangement in their crystal structure, these materials are able to bind, absorb, or transport other compounds inside cells or tissues [43]. In addition, in the case of the iron oxide NMs which are extensively used in biomedical applications, the size of the core atoms also determines their magnetic properties [49].

In summary, size, shape, and crystal structure of NMs, as well as composition (single or complex), determine their mobility, chemical, and physical properties in different systems. Despite the fact that the majority of NMs are produced by physical methods such as arc-discharge, evaporation, laser ablation, among others, chemical methods have demonstrated to be more effective in controlling size and shape [50].

2.2. Characterization of engineered nanomaterials

Appropriate physical and chemical characterization of natural and manufactured NMs is fundamental to determine their intrinsic properties [47]. Phase purity, particle and cluster size, surface chemistry, solubility, charge, and crystallinity are essential to elucidate the homogeneity, stability, reactivity, biodurability, and potential application of NMs in different media [51]. Presently, numerous analytical techniques and instruments are being applied in NPs characterization. Besides, the most important physicochemical properties of NMs, which can be related with their behavior, are average size and elemental composition. Surface area, porosity, surface charge, hydrodynamic diameter, and agglomeration are additional properties not essentially determined by the manufacturers [19].

From electron microscopy techniques, one of the most valuable tools is high resolution transmission electron microscopy, which allows the corroboration of structure, morphology, as well as diffraction data for NMs [52]. Sometimes, transmission electron microscopes (TEM) are equipped with energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy devices (EDS), which acquire the elemental analysis of NMs. X-ray absorption spectroscopy techniques, such as X-ray absorption fine structure, are specifically designed for determining three dimensional structures. Furthermore, atomic force microscopy (AFM) is employed simultaneously to measure particle surface morphology in three dimensions with high resolution.

AFM is applied in air or liquid media, and is based on the van der Waals forces between the NPs and the AFM tip [47]. Other techniques widely used to determine the NPs phase and size are X-ray powder diffraction (XRD), and small-angle X-ray scattering (SAXS). These techniques apply the Scherrer method to calculate particle size and the interplanar spacing *d*, to obtain lattice parameters of NMs. SAXS also provides dispersion of the particles, agglomeration, and morphology [47,48]. XRD coupled to TEM is commonly used to characterize mesoporous silica and silica nanospheres [53].

Dynamic light scattering (DLS), a spectroscopic technique, is also very valuable to determine the size, aggregation condition, and electrophoretic mobility of NPs. According to their size, NPs acquire different mobility which is referred to as hydrodynamic diameter. DLS measures the Brownian movement of the nanoparticles suspended in a liquid, while electrokinetic properties of the particles, such as surface charge, are obtained jointly with laser Doppler velocimetry that measures the direction and speed [50]. DLS is particularly used to establish the size of the NPs and their agglomerates in solutions [52].

UV–vis, matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization, and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) are spectroscopic techniques employed in characterization of fullerenes and derivatives particularly in water environments [44,54]. Coated nanomaterials such as microgel oxide NPs also are easily identified by FTIR due to changes in the characteristic absorption bands of Fe–O bond [55].

Chemical state and elemental composition of metal NMs can also be determined by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA), respectively [56]. TGA is very useful in obtaining weight composition in metal core–shell particles such as CuO-polystyrene NPs [57].

Electrophoretic light scattering spectroscopy (ELS) is a common technique employed in elemental analysis to estimate the NMs' dispersion through the attraction or repulsion between NPs (zeta potential). Net velocity of the NPs is obtained by applying an electric field which corresponds to the mobility in the media [47,48]. Vibrating sample magnetometry provides an insight in regards to the magnetization of the samples. This technique is widely used to measure the magnetization of Fe NMs [58].

Surface enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS) plays a very important role in the determination of the binding sites between functional groups of proteins and metal NPs. This technique is based on the excitation and vibrational modes of the surface plasmons and molecules close to the roughened metal surface. One disadvantage of this technique is the sample preparation and need for complementary measurements for SERS data interpretation [59]. SERS was reported to be very useful in identifying imidazole, sulfur, carboxylate, aromatic rings, and amine functional groups in microtubule protein filaments involved on the adsorption of gold NPs [60].

Secondary ion mass spectroscopy is another technique used to verify the elemental composition of NMs by ionization and sputtering of the surface atoms. Nevertheless, this is a destructive method which only allows the analysis of 1–3 nm layers [61].

It is well known that physical and chemical properties of NMs differ from bulk materials of the same composition, due to the fact that an appropriate characterization of manufactured NMs is needed. The most specialized techniques for characterizing NMs have been described; however, a detailed explanation about each one is beyond the scope of this review.

2.3. Engineered nanomaterials stability

Solubility is driven by physicochemical characteristics of NMs such as size, shape, and density. Essentially, water is the most important media used to study NMs behavior. For the most part, chemical transformations, redox activity, mobility, chemical interactions, and agglomeration of NMs in water need to be evaluated in order to determine their fate and transport as well as their potential toxicity [62,63]. Water ionic strength, hardness, pH, biochemical oxygen demand, alkalinity, organic matter presence, and water composition are some hydrological parameters which modify the NMs behavior.

Stability of ENMs in water is highly influenced by their solubility and dispersibility. Agglomeration and settling are common mechanisms to occur when ENMs enter into water systems, affecting their solubility. Some NPs tend to form agglomerates when they are in contact with aqueous systems and tend to settle with time. However, smaller NPs remain as colloids dispersed in the solution [46]. The rate of NPs aggregation in solution will depend upon the concentration, surface area, and forces involved in collisions like Brownian motion and van der Waals attractions [64]. Sometimes, in order to increase NPs mobility and solubility in polymeric matrices, magnetic particles are often encapsulated with organic surfactants, particularly in biomedical applications like drug delivery [55]. Furthermore, metal oxide polyanions can also be incorporated to polymers in order to add charge-balanced species into the NP structure (nanocomposites) [54]. However, as mentioned before, mobility, diffusion, and transport of ENMs in water will be significantly influenced by their composition, chemical form, concentration, zeta potential, speciation, and NP shell, as well as water conditions like salinity, pH, organic ligands, and ionic strength [1]. Differences in natural organic compounds, pH, ionic strength, and surfactant presence in fresh, marine, and sea waters will have a significant influence on NPs aggregation and performance. Because of its ionic strength (due to salinity), seawater modifies the surface charge of NMs generating more particle collisions, aggregation, and precipitation. As a consequence, aggregation of NMs is more likely to occur in seawater than in freshwater where the presence of organic matter allows NPs coating and diffusion. In addition, viscosity and surface tension may also contribute toward trapping NMs on the ocean surface [64]. Polymeric substances secreted by marine microorganisms may induce agglomeration, stabilize NPs dispersion, or act as chelating agents for inorganic metal binding [65].

Fullerenes and CNTs tend to agglomerate due to their structural properties and hydrophobic character. Fullerenes are soluble in some organic solvents but their solubility in water is about $1.3 \times 10^{-11} \,\mu$ g/L. As a result, numerous studies have been conducted in order to stabilize them in aqueous solutions. Capping agents, surfactants, and stabilizers are applied to decrease steric repulsions and form a stable aqueous dispersion. Inversely, physical methods such as ultrasonication and stirring are also employed to break up the agglomerates and increase NP dispersion [44]. Therefore, further studies of ENMs aggregation, deposition, and mobilization will help to better predict the NPs fate and stability in water systems.

3. Toxicity of nanomaterials

What makes NPs different from their bulk counterparts is mainly related to their high surface/volume ratio. It has been estimated that in a 20 nm NP only 20% of the atoms would be located on the outside, compared to 40% in a 10 nm NP [66]. As a consequence, physicochemical, optical, reactive, and electrical properties change. Besides, the milieu where NMs are present determines their behavior, reactivity, and their potential toxicity.

Essays to determine NPs toxicity involve their dispersion in different media. This aspect should be taken into account since different environments may stimulate different toxicities. In this section, the toxicity of a variety of NPs in several micro and macroorganisms is reviewed.

3.1. Nanoecotoxicity

Determination of NMs toxicity in different stages of the food chain should be assessed in order to obtain a more appropriate picture of the effects NMs in environmental and human health. Significant efforts have been made to assess the toxicity of different NMs in a variety of micro and macro organisms, what is within the scope of both, nanotoxicology and nanoecotoxicology [67]. However, to the authors' knowledge, there are no specific standardized protocols or certified reference materials for the NMs testing. Nevertheless, researchers are trying to find out the best methodologies to perform these kind of evaluations. This section summarizes what is known on the toxicity of several NMs to different organisms.

Difficulties in comparing NP toxicities in diverse systems are evident due to the lack of standardized protocols. In addition, differJ.R. Peralta-Videa et al. / Journal of Hazardous Materials 186 (2011) 1-15

Table 3

Selected nanoparticles tested in a variety of living organisms in the biennium 2008–2010.

Nanomaterial	NP size (nm)	Tested organism	Test	Reported results	Reference
ZnO Al ₂ O ₃ TiO ₂	20 6050	<i>C. elegans</i> (nematode)	24-h LC ₅₀	$\begin{array}{c} LC_{50} \left(2.3 \text{mg} \text{L}^{-1} \right) \\ LC_{50} \left(82 \text{mg} \text{L}^{-1} \right) \\ LC_{50} \left(80 \text{mg} \text{L}^{-1} \right) \end{array}$	[68]
Au Ag Fe ₃ O ₄	10 2 7	Cucumis sativus Lactuca sativa Photobacterium phosphoreum Anaerobic consortium bacteria	Germination Bioluminiscence Biogas production	No toxicity observed	[69]
ZnO	60	S. agalactiae S. aureus	Bactericidal action	Inhibition of cell division (95% at 0.12 M)	[70]
CeO ₂ SiO ₂ TiO ₂	15 and 30 7 and 10 7 and 20	D. magna C. riparius	Genotoxicity Mortality, growth, and reproduction	CeO ₂ damaged DNA CeO ₂ , and SiO ₂ increased mortality	[71]
Ag	20-37	Oryzias latipes	LC ₅₀ Developmental toxicity	LC ₅₀ (1.03 mgL ⁻¹) Edema abnormalities in the spine, fins, heart, brain, and eyes	[72]
TiO ₂ Al (ALEX) Al (L-ALEX) B	6 100 100 10-20	D. magna V. fischeri	24-h LD ₅₀ 48-h LD ₅₀	L-ALEX 48-h LD ₅₀ of 107.588 mg L ⁻¹	[73]

ent parameters are assessed. For example, some researchers report LD_{50} (lethal dose 50%) while others show LC_{50} (lethal concentration 50%) or MIC (minimum inhibitory concentration). In other cases, none of these indices are used, instead other parameters are reported (Table 3).

3.2. Bacteria

Bacteria and algae are located on the bottom of the aquatic food chain, which are eaten by crustaceans such as *Daphnia* and *Cyclops*. These in turn are consumed by fish, making possible the process of biomagnification. Thus, the importance of determining nanotoxicity is evident in these organisms. Several reports are found in the literature concerning this issue. Battin et al. [74] explored TiO_2 (20 and 10 nm) nanotoxicity in planktonic and biofilms of a natural microbial aquatic community from surface water, using NP concentrations similar to those expected in realistic situations (5 mg L⁻¹). These researchers suggested that the negative effects on microorganisms are not only due to the effect of the exposure to individual NPs but also to the aggregates. They also observed that planktonic organisms were more susceptible to the NPs than biofilms. Cell membrane damage was among the toxic effects observed.

Battin et al. [74] and Choi et al. [75] determined a differential toxicity of nanosilver (15–21 nm) in planktonic and biofilm *Escherichia coli* cultures where biofilms were more resistant to the NPs. Choi et al. [75] also reported that minimum bactericidal concentrations were found to be 38 and 10 mg L⁻¹ for planktonic and biofilm *E. coli*, respectively. In addition, Ag NPs aggregation was observed as well as the penetration of the NPs following 1 h of exposure in a 40 μ m thick biofilm, which suggested that the biofilm resistance might be due to retarded NPs diffusion.

Nanotoxicity in pathogenic bacteria has also been explored. Huang et al. [70] used *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *Staphylococcus aureus* to determine the toxicity of 60 nm ZnO NPs. In this case coating was polyvinyl alcohol. The main results that these researchers reported on had to do with cell membrane damage and NPs internalization, as well as the inhibition of bacterial growth.

3.3. Aquatic nanotoxicology: the importance of testing aquatic invertebrates

Aquatic invertebrates are the ultimate recipients of most contaminants released into the environment. Because of that, these organisms are appropriate for nanotoxicity tests [67]. Nanotoxicity test in aquatic invertebrates should include acute and chronic assays as well as strengthen bioaccumulation studies. Geno and ecotoxicity of CeO₂ (15 and 30 nm), SiO₂ (7 and 10 nm), and TiO₂ (7 and 20 nm) have been evaluated in *Daphnia magna* and the larva of *Chironomus riparius* [71]. Results showed that CeO₂ NPs damaged the DNA. In addition, an increase in mortality was observed with CeO₂ and SiO₂ NPs. Moreover, significant correlation coefficients for DNA damage and potential reproduction reduction in *D. magna* were found in individuals treated with CeO₂ NPs. Conversely, TiO₂ did not affect these aquatic species.

Strigul et al. [73] tested the acute toxicity of TiO₂ (6nm), Al (100 nm) (ALEX = NPs coated with Al₂O₃ and L-ALEX = NPs coated with carboxylate groups), and B (10-20 nm) NPs in D. magna and Vibrio fischeri. TiO₂ and L-ALEX displayed low toxicity in D. magna, because none of them allowed 24-h LD₅₀ determination. Besides, the former showed a 48-h LD_{50} of 107.588 mg L⁻¹. However, those for ALEX were of 219.6 (24 h) and 7.483 mg L^{-1} (48 h). Thus, non-hydrophobic nanoaluminum proved to be more toxic to these organisms than their non-hydrophobic counterparts. On the other hand, boron NPs in concentrations higher than 80 mg L⁻¹ were lethal to D. magna. In addition, LD₅₀ values were of 19.5 and 6.7 mg L⁻¹ for 24 and 48 h, respectively. With respect to V. fischeri, B NPs showed EC_{50} values between 56 and 66 mg L⁻¹; while TiO₂, ALEX, and LALEX were not toxic to this bacterium. Thus, these researchers concluded that B NPs used in their study can be classified as harmful to aquatic organisms.

Silver NPs (20–37 nm) were used by Wu et al. [72] to determine LC_{50} , developmental toxicity, morphological, and hystopathological changes in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) at different developmental stages. The authors reported an LC_{50} value of 1.03 mg L⁻¹ in a period of 48 h. In addition, developmental, morphological, and histopathological changes included edema production, abnormalities in the spine, fins, heart, brain, and eyes. Thus, these researchers concluded that Ag NPs showed toxicity for these aquatic organisms.

3.4. Nanotoxicity studies in terrestrial organisms

Tests of toxicity of nanomaterials in terrestrial organisms include nematodes. ZnO, Al_2O_3 , and TiO_2 as NPs and bulk forms were tested on *Caenorhabditis elegans* [68]. Pertaining to LC_{50} , similar toxicity was reported for both forms of ZnO materials

 (2.3 mg L^{-1}) ; however, LC₅₀ for the bulk forms of Al₂O₃ and TiO₂ was around twice as that observed for the NPs of these materials. Nevertheless, in all cases bulk and nanoparticulate materials affected the growth and reproduction capability of this nematode.

Silver NPs were also tested on *C. elegans* using wild type and mutant species [76]. Reports indicate growth inhibition as a consequence to Ag NPs exposure, as well as NPs internalization. To the authors' knowledge, these researchers have reported for the first time transgenerational transfer of Ag NPs, which evidences another potential hazardous consequence of NPs in living organisms.

3.5. Testing nanotoxicity in human and other mammalian cells

Mayer et al. [77] used human blood to determine the effects of size and surface charge of polystyrene NPs on coagulation induction, thrombocyte, complement, and granulocyte activation, as well as on hemolysis. They used polystyrene NPs ranging between 20 and 220 nm. They determined that activation of complement was stimulated when positive surface charges were present. NPs less than 60 nm in size with negative surface charges were more hematotoxic than larger sized NPs. Also, activation of thrombocytes, granulocytes, and hemolysis was provoked to higher levels by NPs around 20 nm in size. Results suggest that both particle size and surface charge should be taken into account when interpreting NPs toxicity results.

CdSe quantum dots (QD) with a ZnS shell and a coating of polyethyleneglycol were tested on intestinal cells [78]. They observed a change in NPs size and suggested a loss in coating when the NPs where exposed to gastric pH. The exposure to this low pH increased QDs toxicity, indicating that such toxicity might be determined by the route of exposure.

A study on human lung epithelial cells (line A549) compared the nanotoxicity of CuO, TiO₂, ZnO, CuZnFe₂O₄, Fe₃O₄, Fe₂O₃ NPs and miltiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNT) [79]. Results indicated that all the NPs studied induced DNA damage to some extent, except for Fe₃O₄ and Fe₂O₃, which caused low or no toxicity. However, CuO NPs were the most toxic as they induced both DNA and oxidative lesions.

Another short-term exposure experiment demonstrated that CuO NPs (aprox. 52 nm) possess a potential for genotoxicity in A549 epithelial lung cells. CuO NPs reduced cell viability, and glutathione production was found along with an increase in oxidative stress and stimulation of lipid peroxidation, superoxide dismutase, and catalase [80]. Moreover, a biomarker of cellular damage was expressed (Hsp70) in the presence of this type of NPs.

Studies with RAW 264.7 (macrophage) and BEAS-2B (human bronchial epithelial) cell lines demonstrated that CeO₂ NPs (8 nm) acted as an antioxidant, and may display cytoprotective ability, while ZnO NPs (13 nm) generated the production of reactive oxygen species molecules, inducing toxicity expressed as inflammation and cell death. Also, evidence of dissolved ZnO NPs in the culture media as well as inside endosomes was found. TiO₂ (11 nm) and CeO₂ were found undissolved in the endosomal cavities [81]. Other studies demonstrated that TiO₂ NPs were not able to penetrate isolated porcine skin in a 24-h *in vitro* [82]. However, when applied *in vivo* for 30 days, 4 and 60 nm TiO₂ NPs entered the pork tissue. In addition, in a 30-day long study with hairless mice, TiO₂ NPs were found in various organs, including the brain and liver. Moreover, the collagen content in mice skin was reduced by TiO₂ NPs, what suggested that these NPs might induce skin aging.

NP toxicity studies have also been performed with mouse cells. Yang et al. [83] used primary mouse embryo fibroblasts to determine the nanotoxicity of carbon black (CB), single wall carbon nanotube (SWCN), SiO₂ and ZnO NPs. These authors [83] looked at cytotoxicity, oxidative damage, and genotoxicity, as related to particle size, shape, and chemical nature. Results demonstrated that ZnO proved to be more cytotoxic than SiO_2 and carbon NPs, and suggested that particle shape might play a major role in inducing genotoxicity. On the other hand, it has been reported that coated (polyvinyl alcohol) and uncoated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles produced gas vesicle formation in mouse fibroblasts (L929) [84].

3.6. Studies in higher plants

Few nanotoxicity studies have been reported for higher plants. Lee et al. [85] proposed the use of agar media to perform nanotoxicity studies. Using this media they exposed *Phaseolus radiatus* (mung bean) and *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) to Cu NPs in order to perform a 48-h acute toxicity where the median effective concentration (EC₅₀) for seedling growth was determined. The authors observed NP aggregation inside plant cells, and 2-day EC₅₀ were of 335 and 570 mg Cu NPs L⁻¹ for *P. radiates* and *T. aestivum*, respectively. Thus, *T. aestivum* was more tolerant to Cu NPs. These authors attributed toxicity to the Cu NPs rather than Cu ions.

The influence of nano-anatase (TiO₂) on plant oxidative stress has also been studied [86]. Results indicate that nano-anatase (TiO₂) reduced antioxidant stress in spinach chloroplasts by reducing H₂O₂, superoxide radicals, and malonyldialdehyde content, while increasing superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, guaiacol peroxidase, and catalase activities [86]. Studies performed in hydroponics with rye grass (Lolim perenne) demonstrated that ZnO NPs (20 nm) reduced biomass production and root elongation. In addition, root cells showed high vesiculation or collapsing and were found attached to the root surface as well as in root endodermis. Low Zn translocation from root to shoot was also reported [87]. Because the authors observed low Zn ions in solution, the toxicity was mainly attributed to the NPs rather than to Zn ions. Contrasting effects have been reported from soil experiments. Doshi et al. [88] treated Phaseolus vulgaris (variety California red kidney bean) and L. perenne with Al NPs (Al₂O₃, ALEX, and L-ALEX). In this case no adverse effects were observed.

Asli and Neumann [89] exposed corn roots to colloidal suspensions of either natural or engineered TiO_2 NPs (30 nm). Bentonite clay was used as natural TiO_2 NP source (sizes between 1 and 6000 nm). They performed short-term experiments and measured root hydraulic conductivity, leaf and root growth rates, transpiration, as well as root cell wall pore size. They reported that almost all the parameters measured were reduced in the presence of both natural and synthesized TiO_2 NPs. In addition, in long-term exposures performed in pot experiments, they found out that no significant inhibitory effects occurred. These researchers have hypothesized that differences in the observed effects in hydroponics and soil experiments might be the effect of soil acting as a filter for the NPs avoiding direct contact with corn roots.

Recently, López-Moreno et al. [90] reported a differential toxicity of CeO₂ NPs on four edible plant species. These authors found that 2000 mg CeO₂ L⁻¹ significantly reduced corn, tomato, and cucumber germination. In addition, when CeO₂ was present in the germination media in concentrations between 500 and 4000 mg CeO₂ L⁻¹, corn and cucumber root growth increased; however, that of alfalfa and tomato decreased. In the wild plant mesquite (Prosopis sp.), coated and uncoated Ni(OH)₂ did not affect plant growth or chlorophyll production, suggesting that this wild plant could be tolerant to these NPs [91]. On the other hand carbon nanotubes (CNTs) might have positive effects on plant growth as shown by Khodakovskaya et al. [92], who observed that CNTs enter tomato seed coat and might be able to maintain water uptake promoting seed germination. It has also been reported that CNTs enter plant cells [93] and might be used as molecular transporters for plants. However, multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) penetrate wheat cells by perforating the cell wall [94].

3.7. Evidence of biotransformations

X-ray absorption spectroscopy is a powerful tool that allows the direct determination of elemental oxidation states in a wide variety of samples. This technique also provides important information for the elucidation of the coordination environment of elements in environmental samples. Since amorphous and crystalline samples can be analyzed, it is widely used for the study of biological samples, including plants. It appears that NPs' biotransformation has not been extensively studied as few reports appear in the literature. Through XAS, López-Moreno et al. [90] were able to prove that CeO₂ NPs are stored within soybean tissues with no biotransformation. In addition, Parsons et al. [91] demonstrated that NPs coating influences biotransformation of Ni(OH)₂ NPs. These researchers reported that in mesquite seedlings treated with uncoated Ni(OH)₂ NPs, the NPs were detected in roots and shoots. However, in leaves, Ni was bound to an organic acid ligand. Inversely, when mesquite was treated with sodium citrate-coated Ni(OH)₂ NPs, the NPs were only detected in roots, whereas in shoots and leaves a Ni-organic acid complex was identified.

4. Fate and transport of NPs in terrestrial ecosystems

Due to the rapid development of nanotechnology, there has been a significant increase in the amount of various engineered ENMs annually released into the environment. It is estimated that a significant fraction of these ENMs will enter terrestrial ecosystems through both direct and indirect modes: through zero-valent metal for remediation of contaminated soil [95–97], through photocatalyst for water treatment [98,99], or via human activities such as biomass burning, fossil fuel combustion, or waste incineration.

4.1. Sources and environmental amounts of NP in terrestrial ecosystems

For natural terrestrial ecosystems, NPs have an extensive history. It has been long known that soil contains material less than $2 \mu m$ in particle size, which is loosely called colloidal soil. Colloidal soil contains phyllosilicates, humic acids, and iron oxides, and has nanosized particles [31]. Components of the colloidal soil include nanosized iron oxides as colloidal phases of ferrihydrite of 2–5 nm in length and also circa 1 nm particles of soil organic matter [31]. All of the naturally occurring nanoscale particles could potentially play an important role in ecosystem dynamics [100].

However, the environmental concentrations of both natural and anthropogenic sources of NPs in terrestrial ecosystems are almost completely unknown. In soil ecosystems only a small proportion of NPs occur as discrete entities. Organic colloids in soil, for example, are largely associated with their inorganic counterparts and form caps over mineral surfaces. For this reason, individual NPs are difficult to separate and collect from the bulk soil, and extraction yields are generally low [101]. Additionally, the lack of analytical methods capable of quantifying trace concentrations of NPs is also the reason for the lack of knowledge [102,103]. Gottschalk et al. [103] calculated environmental concentrations of NPs based on a probabilistic material flow analysis from a life-cycle perspective of ENMs containing products. They found the simulated models range from 0.003 (fullerenes) to 21 ng L^{-1} (nano-TiO₂) for surface waters, and from $4 \text{ ng } \text{L}^{-1}$ (fullerenes) to $4 \mu \text{g}/\text{L}$ (nano-TiO₂) for sewage treatment effluents. In addition, Mueller and Nowack [102] used a life-cycle perspective to model the quantities of three NPs in the environment nano-Ag, nano-TiO₂, and CNT. They use variables such as estimated worldwide production volume, location, particle release, and flow coefficient. They found that only in the case of TiO₂ the expected concentration in water $(0.7-16 \mu g/L)$ was close to or higher than the predicted no effect concentration (<1 μ g/L). This suggests that more detailed studies are required to predict the effects of TiO₂ in the environment.

So far, most of the studies on fate and transport of NPs in terrestrial ecosystems lead to the conclusion that increased entry into the soil of engineered and anthropogenic NPs raises concern about their fate, transport, and potential adverse effects on animal and human health. Before 2008, however, no direct and relevant data pertaining to the fate and behavior of manufactured NMs in terrestrial systems existed. Due to soil and sediment being more complex systems, it is still difficult to determine the concentration of NPs in terrestrial ecosystems. Furthermore, Kline et al. [1] pointed out that for some kinds of NPs, such as iron oxide NPs, a large background of naturally occurring iron in the dissolved phase exists, which makes difficult to differentiate the natural and manufactured material. More studies are needed to understand this matter.

4.2. Possible behavior of NP in soil media

Terrestrial ecosystems are composed of soil and organisms. Soils are mainly composed of air, water, organic matter, and minerals [104]. Among them, air and water compose soil pore space, where dispersed NMs are mobilized or stabilized in the soil solution. Organic matter and minerals make the solid soil. When NPs are released into the soil, they may interact with solid components, e.g. soil organic matter and minerals.

It is usually thought that the fate of NPs released into the soil vary depending on the physical and chemical characteristics of the NPs [105]. Solovitch et al. [106] demonstrated that nanoscale particle dimensions may favor aggregation kinetics, thus altering the transport and retention of these materials in saturated porous media. On the other hand, soil factors such as ionic strength, pH, zeta potential, and soil texture greatly dominate the fate and transport [107-109]. Under those factor, multiple behaviors of NPs in soil occurre: aggregation, transport and deposition, sorption, desorption, stabilization, and dissolution. In addition, NPs are small enough to fit into smaller spaces between soil particles and might therefore travel further than the larger particles before becoming trapped in the soil matrix [46]. Evidence of electrostatic interactions was observed between the negatively charged citrate gold NP attached to positively charged particulates in soil [105]. Fabrega et al. [110] found that the interaction of bacteria with NPs potentially affects the transport of NPs in soil environment.

4.3. Behavior and transport of NPs in soil solution

In soils, the mobility of NPs in pore water is an essential condition for the interaction with plant roots or fungi hyphae [111]. Soil solutions contain colloids; those colloids with high specific surface areas are of great environmental importance because can carry many sorbed substances and facilitate the transport of pollutants and other materials [31]. In addition, soil solution is normally rich in dissolved organic molecules (e.g. humic and fulvic acid) that can enhance the colloidal stability of nanomaterials and, therefore, increase their travel distances [109]. Ghosh et al. [112] found that the stability of humic acid-coated nano-Al₂O₃ was enhanced due to strong steric stabilization. On the other hand, soil solution chemistry (e.g. ionic strength, pH, presence of natural organic matter) strongly affects the interactions between NPs and the solid media, thus influencing the balance between the free migration of particles and the deposition of NPs [106].

The mobility in aqueous media is highly influenced by natural organic matter and ionic strength but independent of pH [63]. Organic matter adsorbed on nanoparticles reduces their aggregation, which could influence their movement in soil solution.

4.4. Interactions of NPs with soil organic matter

Soil organic matter includes humic and fulvic acids which are soluble in soil solution and humin that exists in solid particles. It is expected that dissolved soil organic matter will interact with NPs and thereby potentially alter their fate, transport, and bioavailability in soil. On the other hand, the colloidal surfaces of humus are negatively charged as a result of H⁺ dissociation from carboxylic (–COOH) or phenolic (–OH) groups. Solid-state organic matter will possibly adsorb positively charged NPs by electrostatic attraction and ligand exchange.

Soil organic matter may also influence the surface speciation and charge of NPs, and thus affect their aggregation/deposition properties. In addition, in aquatic systems soil organic matter will increase mobility and bioavailability of NPs [50,111]. Pelley and Tufenkji [50] reported the effect of natural organic matter on the migration of NPs in saturated porous media. They found that the presence of river humic acids generally resulted in a decrease in attachment efficiency. Furthermore, they discovered that the decrease in colloid attachment in the presence of humic acids is related to the combined influence of the mechanisms of charge and steric stabilization [50]. Yang et al. [113] found that humic acids were sorbed on the surface of nanosized TiO₂, Al₂O₃, and ZnO. The decreased zeta potential indicated that humic acid-coated nano-oxides could be more easily dispersed and suspended in solution because of their enhanced electrostatic repulsion.

4.5. Interactions of NPs with soil minerals

There is no direct evidence pertaining as to how NPs interact with soil minerals in soil media. Recently Scheckel et al. [96] determined the speciation and chemical stability of silver and zinc oxide NPs in pure kaolin suspensions over an 18-month period. These researchers reported that silver NPs did not change in sodium nitrate suspension, while the stability was lower in sodium chloride suspension. On the other hand, ZnO NPs rapidly dissociate to Zn(II) within 1 day of reaction.

Joo et al. [98] investigated the interactions of carboxymethyl cellulose-coated anatase TiO₂ NPs (CMC-ANTNP) with the mineral surface of iron-and-aluminum-oxides. The study revealed that the mobility of CMC-ANTNP was retarded by the presence of amorphous Fe and Al hydroxide, which means that CMC-ANTNP was adsorbed on the surface of soil mineral. During this process, the surface charge of both NPs and soil minerals played an important role in the sorption behavior.

4.6. Interaction with existing soil contaminants

Nanoparticles can absorb both organic (herbicides and pesticides) and inorganic pollutants (heavy metals) due to their high surface area. To date, there is a lack of studies as to how the NPs interact with existing contaminants in polluted soils. Because of this, the fate of existing pollutants could possibly be affected by NPs, and at the same time, potentially change the fate and behavior of NPs. Superparamagnetic iron oxide (Fe₃O₄) NPs with a surface functionalization of dimercaptosuccinic acid (DMSA) have been found to adsorb toxic soft metals such as Hg, Ag, Pb, Cd, and Tl, which bind to the DMSA ligands. In addition, As can be removed by Fe₃O₄ because it binds to the iron oxide lattices [114]. Many papers describe the degradation of herbicides by NMs; here are some examples. Joo and Zhao [115] reported that under anaerobic conditions iron-palladium nanoparticles completely reduce 1 mg L⁻¹ of lindane at an iron dose of 0.5 g L⁻¹ or 1 mg L⁻¹ of atrazine with 0.05 g L⁻¹ iron with a trace amount of Pd as a catalyst. However, under aerobic conditions only 65% of lindane was degraded. Palladium-iron bimetallic nanoparticles have been also reported

as useful for dechlorination of dichloromethane, chloroform, and carbon tetrachloride [116]. Iron and nitrogen doped titanium dioxide nanoparticles have shown to be effective to degrade herbicides such as mecoprop, (4-chloro-2-methylphenoxy)acetic acid, and 3,6-dichloropyridine-2-carboxylic acid under the visible light [117]. However, references on field applications were not found; furthermore, Grieger et al. [118] have pointed out the scarcity of risk assessment studies and environmental risks for field scale applications of nanomaterials like zero-valent iron NPs.

4.7. Transport of NP in soil columns

To date, there are only a few reports in the scientific literature about the behavior of NPs in real soil systems. In 2009, a paper reported on the stability of titania NPs in soil suspensions, as well as their transport in saturated homogeneous soil columns [99]. They found that the transport distances of TiO₂ in some soils ranged from 41.3 to 370 cm, meaning that there is a potential risk of TiO₂ transfer from soil media to underground water. It was also revealed that suspended TiO₂ contents in soil suspensions were positively correlated with the dissolved organic carbon and clay content of the soil, but were negatively correlated with ionic strength, pH, and zeta potential.

Jaisi and Elimelech [109] investigated the transport behavior of single-walled, carbon nanotubes in soils under saturated flow conditions. Results suggest that carboxyl-functionalized, SWCNTs will not exhibit substantial transport and infiltration in soils because of an effective retention by the soil matrix. The transport was limited to 5.5 and 4.6 cm at 1 and 19 mM KCl, respectively.

Some NPs are coated with inorganic or organic compounds, such as citrate, cysteine, carbonate, or surfactants to maintain the NPs stability. Surface coatings on the NPs are important determinants of mobility and may enhance the transport. Presently, there is a lack of such information related to coated or capped NPs' behavior in terrestrial ecosystems. To date, there are only a few papers describing the transport of NMs in soil. Since many coated NPs will enter into terrestrial ecosystems, more research is needed to better understand the environmental behavior of these NPs [98,107].

4.8. Transport by terrestrial organisms

C. elegans, a nematode living in the soil, is usually taken as a model organism to studying the bioaccumulation and toxicity of NPs. Evidences have revealed that ZnO, Al₂O₃, and TiO₂ and Ag NPs could be taken up by *C. elegans*, causing different degrees of toxicity including decreasing reproduction and inhibition of growth [119,68]. By far, few publications have documented the uptake of NPs by living organisms. There is no clear evidence yet if the toxicity and absorption can be attributed to the NPs or the dissolved ions. Pipan et al. [120] reported that the Zinc bioaccumulation in a terrestrial isopod probably depends on Zn dissolution from ZnO NP, and not on bioaccumulation of particulate ZnO. To the authors' knowledge, there are no publications describing the transport of NMs by soil microorganisms, including *C. elegans*.

Pertaining to plants, most of the articles explore the toxicity of NPs on seed germination and root elongation [12,87]. Kurepa et al. [121] found evidence that modified TiO₂ entered into plants cells and accumulated in specific subcellular locations. Lin and Xing [87] observed the root uptake and phytotoxicity of ZnO NPs in various plants. In the presence of ZnO NPs, ryegrass significantly reduced biomass production; root tips shrank, and root epidermal and cortical cells were highly vacuolated or collapsed. They also revealed that the phytotoxicity of ZnO NPs was not a direct result of their limited dissolution in the bulk nutrient solution or rhizosphere; the NPs greatly adhered to the root surface. Ma et al. [122] compared the effects of rare earth oxide NPs on the root elongation of

Table 4

New nanomaterials produced in the biennium 2008–2010.

Nanomaterial	Production method	Properties/Applications	Reference
Cobalt ferrites ($Co_x Fe_{3-x}O_4$)	Non-aqueous synthesis method	Small NPs with catalytic power; candidates for	[125]
Magnetic nanocarriers	Grafting 2-hydroxypropyl-b-cyclodextrin to	Capability to load the anticancer agent all-trans-retinoic acid	[126]
Colloidal-supported metal NP	(1) Synthesis of silica colloids, (2) synthesis of palladium NP, (3) functionalization of silica colloids with 3-mercaptopropyl trimethoxysilane or 3-aminopropyl triethoxysilane, (4) covalent attachment of palladium nanoparticles onto functionalized silica colloids	Intermediate nanocatalyst in liquid-phase reactions	[127]
Cryptomelane-type manganese dioxide	Solid-state reaction between Mn ⁷⁺ and Mn ²⁺ species in a high-energy ball milling with stainless steel balls (12 balls, 20 mm diameter) and jar	Modified cryptomelane solids with catalytic activity in the preferential oxidation of CO reaction in the presence of hydrogen	[128]
Anatase/brookite mixtures and pure brookite TiO ₂ nanorods	Reaction of aqueous solutions of the titanium(IV) bis(ammonium lactate) dihydroxide complex with urea	Anatase/brookite mixtures and brookite nanorods with higher photocatalytic activity than anatase nanoparticles and even higher than Aeroxide (Evonik) TiO ₂ P25 for the photocatalytic H ₂ evolution from aqueous methanol solution	[129]
Magnetically recyclable Au@Co core-shell NP	HAuCl ₄ and CoCl ₂ with a molar ratio of 0.06:0.94 in polyvinylpyrrolidone mixed with ammonia borane solid	Catalytic activity and long-term stability to hydrolytic dehydrogenation of aqueous ammonia borane at room temperature	[130]
Bismuth subcarbonate ((BiO) ₂ CO ₃)	Bismuth nitrate via simple solvothermal method	Antibacterial properties against <i>H. pylori</i>	[131]
Lipid-modified cationic poly(fluorenylene phenylene)	Polymer synthesis	Uniform 50 nm NP in water excellent photostability, little cytotoxicity; deliver plasmids into cancer cells	[132]
Celecoxib NP dry powder	n-butyl acetate + sec-butyl alcohol + ammonium glycyrrhizinate + soybean phosphatidylcholine equilibrate at 25 °C for 24 h + gradually dilution with water	Powder may be incorporated into tablets, capsules, or other orally administered dosage forms	[133]
Metastable γ-FeNi NP	Mechanical alloying of melt-spun ribbon followed by a solution annealing treatment in the γ-phase region and water quenching	Use in applications such as polymer curing and cancer thermotherapy	[134]
Silver complexes of <i>N</i> -heterocyclic carbene	Benzimidazolium salts reacted with Ag ₂ O in dichloromethane as a solvent	Activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria; antifungal activity against Candida albicans and Candida tropicalis	[135]
YF ₃ :Yb ³⁺ /Er ³⁺ functionalized with poly(acrylic acid) (PAA)	Nanocrystals prepared using lanthanide nitrate salts and sodium fluoride in ethylene glycol and ethanol with PAA as surfactant	Potential to be used <i>in vivo</i> fluorescence imaging, due to the deep penetration of NIR radiation	[136]
Lithium–vanadate-phosphate (LVP) and lithium–iron-phosphate (LFP) glasses	Mixture melted at 900°C poured on a stainless-steel plate held at room temperature, immediately covered by a second stainless steel plate	Electronic conductivity of 10 ⁻¹ S cm ⁻¹ at 300 °C. New way for electronic conductivity improvement of olivine-like cathode materials	[137]
Copper selenide (CuSe, Cu_{2-x} Se, β -Cu ₂ Se and Cu ₂ Se) hexagonal nanoplates	Several copper sources + elemental selenium, ethylene glycol and hydrazine hydrate in water at 100 °C (12 h)	Nanoplates in the range 200–450 nm. Potential building blocks to construct functional devices and solar cell	[138]
Chain-like and rod-like Co-B NM	Chemical reduction in CTAB and PVP aqueous solution, respectively	Both NMs show high discharge capacity, excellent electrochemical reversibility and high rate discharge capability comparable to Ni-MH battery	[139]
Natural layered silicates (Na ⁺ -MMT), natural rubber (NR), and polypyrrole (PPy)	Electrolytic admicellar polymerization pyrrole monomer and the Na ⁺ -MMT varied from 100 to 800 mM and 1–7 parts per hundred of rubber. respectively	Mechanical and DC electrical conductivity properties significantly improved with the inclusion of the layered silicates	[140]
Spinel Zn _{0.6} Mn _{0.4} Fe ₂ O ₄ NM	Synthesized by sol-gel citrate method	30–35 nm for Mn–Zn ferrite. Sensor very promising for ethanol detection in the range 0–200 ppm with a response time in the order of 10 s	[141]
NaYF ₄ :Yb ³⁺ , Tm ³⁺ NP	NaYF ₄ :Yb ³⁺ , Tm ³⁺ NP coated with an Ru(II) complex doped SiO ₂ shell with a thickness circa 30 nm; surface of SiO ₂ functionalized with amines	Applicable as biolabels and optical oxygen sensors, in biological fluids	[142]
Ag–L-cysteine	Mixing equal volumes of AgNO ₃ (20 mM) and L -cysteine (22 mM) aqueous solutions under sonication in a water bath at 37 °C for 30 min	Directly used to detect Hg ²⁺ without further purification and separation	[143]
Gd_2O_3 :Eu ³⁺ nanophosphors	Low temperature solution combustion + metal nitrates as oxidizers fueled by oxalyl dihydrazide (ODH)	Particles show red emission at 611 nm corresponding to ${}^5D_0 - {}^7F_2$ transition	[144]
CdS covalently functionalized polyacrylonitrile nanocomposite	CdS covalently functionalized polyacrylonitrile (CdS-PAN) was prepared in the presence of azobisisbutyronitrile under ultrasonic radiation	Positive nonlinear absorption of incident light	[145]

Nanomaterial	Production method	Properties/Applications	Reference
CdTe quantum dots complexed with FeP	Fe(CO) ₅ and trioctylphosphine precursors + CdTe in the same reactor	Optical and magnetic properties	[146]
Cellulose-nanoscale-manganese oxide composite	Impregnating KMnO ₄ solution into cellulose fiber matrix for 30 min followed by reduction with ethanol	Application for Pb(II) removal from aqueous solutions	[147]
Nanometric LiMO ₂ (M = Co, Fe) powders	LiNO ₃ alcoholic solution and either $Co(NO_3)_2$ or Fe(NO ₃) ₃ added under constant stirring into a 3 mol L ⁻¹ KOH alcoholic solution (methanol, ethanol or 2-propanol)	High voltage cathode materials	[148]
Polymer electrolyte	Coprecipitation using nanoparticles of hydrotalcite (anionic clay) as filler	Ionic conductivity 1.1×10^{-5} S cm ⁻¹ for 3.6 wt.% nanoparticle doped sample	[149]
Acrylic-based luminescent NM	In situ emulsifier-free microemulsion copolymerization	Particles with 20–100 nm, blue luminescent NMs potential use in electronic inks	[150]
Fe ₃ O ₄ @γ-Fe ₂ O ₃ core/shell nanomaterials	Thin layer of a-FeOOH absorbed on surface of iron oxide nanoparticles	Higher magnetic saturation value	[151]
Fe ₃ O ₄ /CdTe magnetic/fluorescent nanocomposites	Fe ₃ O ₄ nanoparticles functionalized with thiol groups + chemical conjugation with multiple thioglycolic acid modified CdTe QDs to form water-soluble Fe ₃ O ₄ /CdTe	Nanocomposites with magnetic and fluorescent properties applicable in magnetic separation and fluorescent imaging	[152]
Carbon-zirconia quantum dot	High-temperature annealing (1200 °C) of synthetic opal infiltrated with zirconia and a small amount of carbon	Might be used to convert short-wavelength broadband radiation to quasi-mono-chromatic light in the visible range	[153]

test plants. The study indicated that suspensions of nano-La₂O₃, nano-Gd₂O₃, and nano-Yb₂O₃ severely inhibited the root elongation of seven plants species, while nano-CeO₂ at 2000 mgL⁻¹ had no effects on the root elongation of six plants species, barring lettuce. Stampoulis et al. [123] tested five NPs (MWCNT, Ag, Cu, ZnO, and Si) on Cucurbita pepo. Phytotoxicity was evaluated on seed germination, root elongation, and biomass production. Seed germination was found to be unaffected by any of the treatments, but Cu NPs reduced root length, while biomass production was reduced by MWCNT and Ag NPs. López-Moreno et al. [90] reported that the nanoceria differentially affected plant organs. While in some plants promoted root and shoot elongation, in other plants produced inverse effects in roots and shoots. López-Moreno et al. [90] obtained evidence of the differential biotransformation and genotoxicity of ZnO and CeO₂ NPs on soybean plants. Although the NPs did not affect soybean germination, some genotoxic effects were found. To the authors' knowledge, only one publication with CNTs described the possible dispersion of NP through terrestrial plants [124]. Theses authors found that C₇₀ were detected in the leaves of the second generation of rice plants, which suggest that NPs could be potentially spread by terrestrial plants. As shown above, studies including ENMs have been mainly focused on the impact of NPs on individuals. The ecological impact and movement of NPs on whole terrestrial ecosystems still remains unreported. It is very important to know how high is the impact of NPs on soil, what the sinks are, and how much leaches to the underground water. It is supposed that after information pertaining to NPs and their impact on terrestrial biota become available, ecosystem-scale impact studies will emerge.

5. New nanoproducts

Several new ENMs were produced in the biennium 2008–2010. Table 4 includes those NMs with specific properties or applications. NMs reported in the literature but with no definite applications were not included in this review. From the listed NMs, cobalt ferrites [125], organically modified iron oxide NPs [126], colloidalsupported metal NPs [127], cryptomelane-type manganese dioxide NMs [128], TiO₂ nanorods [129], and magnetically recyclable Au@Co core-shell NPs [130] show catalytic activity. The new nanoproducts with potential medical applications include bismuth subcarbonate NPs [131], lipid-modified cationic poly(fluorenylene phenylene) [132], celecoxib NPs [133], metastable Fe–Ni NPs [134], silver-carbene [135], functionalized YF₃:Yb³⁺/Er³⁺ [136]. Nanomaterials with applications in electronics include lithium complexes [137], copper-selenium complexes [138], Co-B NMs [139], and silicates-rubber-polypyrrole complexes [140]. Nanomaterials for sensors applications were Zn-Mn-Fe NMs [141], NaYF₄:Yb³⁺ coated NM [142], Ag-L-cysteine NPs [143]. New NMs with optical applications were Gd₂O₃:Eu³⁺ nanophosphors [144], CdS nanocomposite [145], and CdTe guantum dots [146]. Other NMs included cellulose-manganese oxide composite for Pb removal from aqueous solution [147], Li compounds for high voltage cathode [148], polymer electrolytes [149], acrylic-based luminescence NM [150]. Fe complexes with higher magnetic saturation value [151], Fe/Cd Te nanocomposites with magnetic properties [152], and carbon-zirconia QD to convert short-wavelength radiation to quasi-monochromatic light in the visible range [153]. Many more new NMs were reported but still are without practical applications. This is the reason why they were not included in this review.

Acknowledgements

This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation and the Environmental Protection Agency under Cooperative Agreement Number DBI-0830117. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation or the Environmental Protection Agency. This work has not been subjected to EPA review and no official endorsement should be inferred. The authors also acknowledge the USDA grant number 2008-38422-19138, the Toxicology Unit of the BBRC (NIH NCRR Grant # 2G12RR008124-16A1), and the NSF Grant # CHE-0840525. J.L. Gardea-Torresdey acknowledges the Dudley family for the Endowed Research Professorship in Chemistry. G. de la Rosa acknowledges the Mexican National Council for Science and Technology CONACYT (CB 61649), and the Council for Science and Technology of Guanajuato (08-16k662-127).

References

- S.J. Klaine, P.J.J. Alvarez, G.E. Batley, T.F. Fernandes, R.D. Handy, D.Y. Lyon, S. Mahendra, M.J. McLaughlin, J.R. Lead, Nanomaterials in the environment: Behavior, fate, bioavailability, and effects, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 27 (2008) 1825–1851.
- [2] http://www.nanotechproject.org/inventories/consumer/. Accessed 10/20/2010.

- [3] http://www.reportlinker.com/p0199282/The-World-Market-for-Nanotechn ology-and-Nanomaterials-in-Consumer-Products.html?request=news&utm. source=prnewswire&utm.medium=pr&utm.campaign=prnewswire, The World Market for Nanotechnology and Nanomaterials in Consumer Products, 2010–2015, Accessed 10-20-2010.
- [4] A. Helland, M. Scheringer, M. Siegrist, H.G. Kastenholz, A. Wiek, R.W. Scholz, Risk assessment of engineered nanomaterials: a survey of industrial approaches, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 640–646.
- [5] J.A. Conti, K. Killpack, G. Gerritzen, L. Huang, M. Mircheva, M. Delmas, B.H. Harthorn, R.P. Appelbaum, P. Holden, Health and safety practices in the nanomaterials workplace: results from an international survey, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 3155–3162.
- [6] V.M. Hoyt, E. Manson, Nanotechnology emerging health issues, J. Chem. Health Saf. 15 (2008) 10–15.
- [7] M.F. Hallock, P. Greenley, L. DiBerardinis, D. Kallin, Potential risks of nanomaterials and how to safely handle materials of uncertain toxicity, J. Chem. Health Saf. 16 (2009) 16–23.
- [8] M.R. Wiesner, G.V. Lowry, K.L. Jones, M.F. Hochella Jr., R.T. Di Giulio, E. Casman, E.S. Bernhardt, Decreasing uncertainties in assessing environmental exposure, risk, and ecological implications of nanomaterials, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 6458–6462.
- [9] http://www.nanolawreport.com/2010/06/articles/gao-providesrecommendations-regarding-epas-effort-to-regulate-nanomaterials/, Accessed 10-20-2010.
- [10] M. Auffan, J. Rose, M.R. Wiesner, J.-Y. Bottero, Chemical stability of metallic nanoparticles: a parameter controlling their potential cellular toxicity in vitro, Environ. Pollut. 157 (2009) 1127–1133.
- [11] N. Lubick, Risk of nanotechnology remains uncertain, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 1821–1824.
- [12] M.L. Lopez-Moreno, G. de la Rosa, J.A. Hernandez-Viezcas, H. Castillo-Michel, C.E. Botez, J.R. Peralta-Videa, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, Evidence of the differential biotransformation and genotoxicity of ZnO and CeO₂ nanoparticles on soybean (*Glycine max*) plants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 7315–7320.
- [13] G. Bystrzejewska-Piotrowska, J. Golimowske, P.L. Urban, Nanoparticles: their potential toxicity, waste and environmental management, Waste Manag. 29 (2009) 2587–2595.
- [14] C. Som, M. Berges, Q. Chaudhry, M. Dusinska, T.F. Fernandes, S.I. Olsen, B. Nowack, The importance of life cycle concepts for the development of safe nanoproducts, Toxicology 269 (2010) 160–169.
- [15] L. Zhang, T.J. Webster, Nanotechnology and nonomaterials: promises for improved tissue regeneration, Nano Today 4 (2009) 66-80.
- [16] K. Savolainen, H. Alenius, H. Norppa, L. Pylkkanen, T. Tuomi, G. Kasper, Risk assessment of engineered nanomaterials and nanotechnologies – a review, Toxicology 269 (2010) 92–104.
- [17] E. Navarro, A. Baun, R. Behra, N.B. Hartmann, J. Filser, A. Miao, A. Quigg, P.H. Santschi, L. Siggg, Environmental behavior and ecotoxicity of engineered nanoparticles to algae, plants, and fungi, Ecotoxicology 17 (2008) 372–386.
- [18] M. Neuberger, H. Moshammer, Nano-particles: known and new environmental hazards, Atemwegs-und Lungenkrankheiten 36 (2010) 10–13, Language: German.
- [19] V. Stone, B. Nowack, A. Baun, N. Brink, F. Kammer, M. Dusinaska, R. Handy, S. Hankin, M. Hassellov, E. Joner, T.F. Fernandes, Nanomaterials for environmental studies: classification, reference material issues, and strategies for physic-chemical characterization, Sci. Total Environ. 408 (2010) 1745–1754.
- [20] S. Andergassen, V. Meden, H. Schoeller, J. Splettstoesser, M.R. Wegewijs, Charge transport through single molecules, quantum dots and quantum wires, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 272001.
- [21] P. Recher, B. Trauzettell, Quantum dots and spin qubits in grapheme, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 302001.
- [22] S.T. Aruna, A.S. Mukasyan, Combustion synthesis and nanomaterials, Curr. Opin. Solid St. M. 12 (2008) 44–50.
- [23] Q. Yuan, H.H. Duan, L.L. Li, LD. Sun, Y.W. Zhang, C.H. Yan, Controlled synthesis and assembly of ceria-based nanomaterials, J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 335 (2009) 151–167.
- [24] F. Cansell, D. Aymonier, Design of functional nanostructured materials using supercritical fluids, J. Supercrit. Fluids 47 (2009) 508–516.
- [25] V.O. Nyamori, S.D. Mhlanga, N.J. Coville, The use of organometallic transition metal complexes in the synthesis of shaped carbon nanomaterials, J. Organomet. Chem. 693 (2008) 2205–2222.
- [26] C.L. Stender, P. Sekar, T.W. Odom, Solid-state chemistry on a surface and in a beaker: unconventional routes to transition metal chalcogenide nanomaterials, J. Solid St. Chem. 181 (2008) 1621–1627.
- [27] H. Chu, L. Wei, R. Cui, J. Wang, Y. Li, Carbon nanotubes combined with inorganic nanomaterials: preparations and applications, Coord. Chem. Rev. 254 (2009) 1117–1134.
- [28] C.J. Zhong, J. Luo, B. Fang, B.N. Wanjala, P.N. Njoke, R. Loukrakpam, J. Yin, Nanostructured catalysts in fuel cells, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 062001.
- [29] B. Roldan Cuenya, Synthesis and catalytic properties of metal nanoparticles: size, shape, support, composition, and oxidation state effects, Thin Solid Films 518 (2010) 3127–3150.
- [30] A. Cuerrero-Martinez, J. Perez-Juste, L.M. Liz-Marzan, Recent progress on silica coating of nanoparticles and related nanomaterials, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 1182–1195.
- [31] M.A. Wilson, N.H. Tran, A.S. Milev, G.S.K. Kannangara, H. Volk, G.Q.M. Lu, Nanomaterials in soils, Geoderma 146 (2008) 291–302.

- [32] L. Zhang, M. Fang, Nanomaterials in pollution trace detection and environmental improvement, Nano Today 5 (2010) 128–142.
- [33] D.J. Evans, Bionanoscience at the plant virus-inorganic chemistry interface, Inorg. Chim. Acta 363 (2010) 1070–1076.
- [34] A.C.A. Wan, J.Y. Ying, Nanomaterials for in situ cell delivery and tissue regeneration, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 731–740.
- [35] S. Weinstein, D. Peer, RNAi nanomedicines: challenges and opportunities within the immune system, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 23200.
- [36] D.L. Corre, J. Bras, A. Dufresne, Starch nanoparticles: a review, Biomacromolecules 11 (2010) 1139–1153.
- [37] M. Willander, O. Nur, Q.X. Zhao, L.L. Yang, M. Lorenz, B.Q. Cao, J.Z. Perez, C. Czekalla, G. Zimmermann, M. Grundmann, A. Bakin, A. Behrends, M. Al-Suleiman, A. El-Shaer, A.C. Mofor, B. Postels, A. Waag, N. Boukos, A. Travlos, H.S. Kwack, J. Guinard, D.L.S. Dang, Zinc oxide nanorod based photonic devices: recent progress in growth, light emitting diodes and lasers, Nanotechnology 20 (2009) 33200.
- [38] C. Zhi, Y. Bando, C. Tang, D. Golberg, Boron nitride nanotubes, Mater. Sci. Eng., doi:10.1016/j.mser.2010.06.004.
- [39] A. Botman, J.J.L. Mulders, C.W. Hagen, Creating pure nanostructures from electron-beam-induced deposition using purification techniques: a technology perspective, Nanotechnology 20 (2009) 372001.
- [40] A.E. Grigorescu, Resists for sub-20-nm electron beam lithography with a focus on HSQ: state of the art, Nanotechnology 20 (2009) 292001.
- [41] M.M. Kemp, R.J. Linhardt, Heparin-based nanoparticles, WIREs Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 2 (2010) 77–87.
- [42] J. Eriksson, V. Khranovskyy, F. Söderlind, P. Käll, R. Yakimova, A. Lloyd Spetz, ZnO nanoparticles or ZnO films: a comparison of the gas sensing capabilities, Sensors Actuat. B: Chem. 137 (2009) 94–102.
- [43] B. Fadeel, A.E. Garcia-Bennett, Better safe than sorry: understanding the toxicological properties of inorganic nanoparticles manufactured for biomedical applications, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 362–374.
- [44] S. Perez, M. Farre, D. Barcelo, Analysis, behavior and ecotoxicity of carbonbased nanomaterials in the aquatic environment, Trends Anal. Chem. 28 (2009) 820–832.
- [45] E. Casals, S. Vazquez-Campos, N.G. Bastus, V. Puntes, Distribution and potential toxicity of engineered inorganic nanoparticles and carbón nanostructures in biological systems, Trends Anal. Chem. 27 (2008) 672–683.
- [46] S.K. Brar, M. Verma, R.D. Tyagi, R.Y. Surampalli, Engineered nanoparticles in wastewater and wastewater sludge – evidence and impacts, Waste Manag. 30 (2010) 504–520.
- [47] Y. Ju-Nam, J.R. Lead, Manufactured nanoparticles: an overview of their chemistry, interactions and potential environmental implications, Sci. Total Environ. 400 (2008) 396–414.
- [48] M. Mahmoudi, A. Simchi, A.S. Milani, P. Stroeve, Cell toxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles, J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 336 (2009) 510–518.
- [49] W.H. De Jong, P.J.A. Borm, Drug delivery and nanoparticles: applications and hazards, Int. J. Nanomed. 3 (2008) 133–149.
- [50] A.J. Pelley, N. Tufenkji, Effect of particle size and natural organic matter on the migration of nano and microscale latex particles in saturated porous media, J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 321 (2008) 74–83.
- [51] A. Kahru, H.C. Dubourguier, From ecotoxicology to nanoecotoxicology, Toxicology 269 (2009) 105–119.
- [52] H.L. Karlsson, J. Gustafsson, P. Cronholm, L. Moller, Size-dependent toxicity of metal oxide particles-A comparison between nano- and micrometer size, Toxicol. Lett. 188 (2009) 112–118.
- [53] A.J. Di Pasqua, K.K. Sharma, Y.L. Shi, B.B. Toms, W. Ouellette, J.C. Dabrowiak, T. Asefa, Cytotoxicity of mesoporous silica nanomaterials, J. Inorg. Biochem. 102 (2008) 1416–1423.
- [54] P.S. Kishore, B. Viswanathan, T.K. Varadarajan, Synthesis and characterization of metal nanoparticle embedded conducting polymer-polyoxometalate composites, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 3 (2008) 14–20.
- [55] A. Khan, Preparation and characterization of magnetic nanoparticles embedded in microgels, Mater. Lett. 62 (2008) 898–902.
- [56] Y.J. Chae, C.H. Pham, J. Lee, E. Bae, J. Yi, M.B. Gu, Evaluation of the toxic impact of silver nanoparticles on *Japanese* medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), Aquat. Toxicol. 94 (2009) 320–327.
- [57] C. Saison, F. Perreault, J.C. Daigle, C. Fortin, J. Claveri, M. Morin, R. Popovic, Effect of core-shell copper oxide nanoparticles on cell culture morphology and photosynthesis (Photosystem II energy distribution) in the green alga, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, Aquat. Toxicol. 96 (2010) 109–114.
- [58] M.M. Song, W.J. Song, H. Bi, J. Wang, W.L. Wu, J. Sun, M. Yu, Cytotoxicity and cellular uptake of iron nanowires, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 1509–1517.
- [59] Y. Fleger, M. Rosenbluh, Surface plasmons and surface enhanced Raman spectra of aggregated and alloyed gold-silver nanoparticles, Res. Lett. Opt. 2009 (2009) 1–5.
- [60] J.C. Zhou, X. Wang, M. Xue, Z. Xu, T. Hamasaki, Y. Yang, K. Wang, B. Dunn, Characterization of gold nanoparticle binding to microtubule filaments, Mat. Sci. Eng. C 30 (2010) 20–26.
- [61] M.C. Putman, M.A. Filler, B.M. Kayes, M.D. Kelzenberg, Y. Guan, N.S. Lewis, J.M. Eiler, H.A. Atwater, Secondary ion mass spectrometry of vapor-liquid-solid grown, Au-catalyzed, Si wires, Nanoletters 8 (2008) 3109–3113.
- [62] I. Blinova, A. Ivask, M. Heinlaan, M. Mortimer, A. Kahru, Ecotoxicity of nanoparticles of CuO and ZnO in natural water, Environ. Pollut. 158 (2010) 41–47.

- [63] A. Keller, H. Wang, D. Zhou, H.S. Lenihan, G. Cherr, B.J. Cardinale, R. Miller, Z. Ji, Stability and aggregation of metal oxide nanoparticles in natural aqueous matrices, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 1962–1967.
- [64] R.D. Handy, R. Owen, E. Valsami-Jones, The ecotoxicology of nanoparticles and nanomaterials: current status, knowledge gaps, challenges, and future needs, Ecotoxicology 17 (2008) 315–325.
- [65] A.J. Miao, K.A. Schwehr, C. Xu, S.J. Zhang, Z. Luo, A. Quigg, P.H. Santschi, The algal toxicity of silver engineered nanoparticles and detoxification by exopolymeric substances, Environ. Pollut. 157 (2009) 3034–3041.
- [66] M. Auffan, Nanoparticules d'oxydes me' talliques: relation entre la re' activite' de surface et des re'ponses biologiques, Ph.D. Thesis, Universite' Paul Cezanne, Aix-en-Provence, 2007.
- [67] A. Baun, N.B. Hartmann, K. Grieger, K.O. Kusk, Ecotoxicity of engineered nanoparticles to aquatic invertebrates: a brief review and recommendations for future toxicity testing, Ecotoxicology 17 (2008) 387–395.
- [68] H. Wang, R.L. Wick, B. Xing, Toxicity of nanoparticulate and bulk ZnO, Al₂O₃ and TiO₂ to the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Environ. Pollut. 157 (2009) 1171–1177.
- [69] R. Barrena, E. Casals, J. Colón, X. Font, A. Sánchez, V. Puntes, Evaluation of the ecotoxicity of model nanoparticles, Chemosphere 75 (2009) 850–857.
- [70] Z. Huang, X. Zheng, D. Yan, G. Yin, X. Liao, Y. Kang, Y. Yao, D. Huang, B. Hao, Toxicological effect of ZnO nanoparticles based on bacteria, Langmuir 24 (2008) 4140–4144.
- [71] S.W. Lee, S.M. Kim, J. Choi, Genotoxicity and ecotoxicity assays using the freshwater crustacean *Daphnia magna* and the larva of the aquatic midge *Chironomus riparius* to screen the ecological risks of nanoparticle exposure, Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 28 (2009) 86–91.
- [72] Y. Wu, Q. Zhoua, H. Li, W. Liua, T. Wanga, G. Jianga, Effects of silver nanoparticles on the development and histopathology biomarkers of Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) using the partial-life test, Aquat. Toxicol. 100-2 (2010) 160-167.
- [73] N. Strigul, L. Vaccari, C. Galdun, M. Wazne, X. Liu, C. Christodoulatos, K. Jasinkiewicz, Acute toxicity of boron, titanium dioxide, and aluminum nanoparticles to *Daphnia magna* and *Vibrio fischeri*, Desalination 248 (2009) 771–782.
- [74] T.J Battin, F.V.D. Kammer, A. Weilhartner, S. Ottofuelling, T. Hofmann, Nanostructured TiO₂: transport, behavior and effects on aquatic microbial communities under environmental conditions, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 8098–8104.
- [75] O. Choi, C.Y. Yu, E. Fernández, Z. Hu, Interactions of nanosilver with Escherichia coli cells in planktonic and biofilm cultures, Water Res., doi:10.1016/j.watres.2010.06.069.
- [76] J.N. Meyer, C.A. Lord, X.Y. Yang, E.A. Turner, A.R. Badireddy, S.M. Marinakos, A. Chilkoti, M.R. Wiesner, M. Auffan, Intracellular uptake and associated toxicity of silver nanoparticles in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Aquat. Toxicol. 100–2 (2010) 140–150.
- [77] A. Mayer, M. Vadon, B. Rinner, A. Novak, R. Wintersteiger, E. Fröhlich, The role of nanoparticle size in hemocompatibility, Toxicology 258 (2009) 139–147.
- [78] L. Wang, D.K. Nagesha, S. Selvarasah, M.R. Dokmeci, R.L. Carrier, Toxicity of CdSe nanoparticles in Caco-2 cell cultures, J. Nanobiotechnol. 6 (2008) 11, http://www.jnanobiotechnology.com/content/6/1/11.
- [79] H.L. Karlsson, P. Cronholm, J. Gustafsson, L. Möller, Copper oxide nanoparticles are highly toxic: a comparison between metal oxide nanoparticles and carbon nanotubes, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 21–9 (2008) 1726–1732.
- [80] M. Ahamed, M.A. Siddiqui, M.J. Akhtar, I. Ahmad, A.B. Pat, H.A. Alhadlaq, Genotoxic potential of copper oxide nanoparticles in human lung epithelial cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 396 (2010) 578–583.
- [81] T. Xia, M. Kovochich, M. Liong, L. Mädler, B. Gilbert, H. Shi, J.I. Yeh, J.I. Zink, A.E. Nel, Comparison of the mechanism of toxicity of zinc oxide and cerium oxide nanoparticles based on dissolution and oxidative stress properties, ACS Nano 2–10 (2008) 2121–2134.
- [82] J. Wu, W. Liu, C. Xue, S. Zhou, F. Lan, L. Bi, H. Xu, X. Yang, F.D. Zeng, Toxicity and penetration of TiO₂ nanoparticles in hairless mice and porcine skin after subchronic dermal exposure, Toxicol. Lett. 191 (2009) 1–8.
- [83] H. Yang, C. Liu, D. Yang, H. Zhang, Z. Xi, Comparative study of cytotoxicity, oxidative stress and genotoxicity induced by four typical nanomaterials: the role of particle size, shape and composition, J. Appl. Toxicol. 29–1 (2009) 69–78.
- [84] M. Mahmoudi, A. Simchi, M. Imani, M.A. Shokrgozar, A.S. Milani, U.O. Häfeli, S. Pieter, A new approach for the in vitro identification of the cytotoxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 75–1 (2010) 300–309.
- [85] W.M. Lee, Y.J. An, H. Yoon, H.S. Kweon, Toxicity and bioavailability of copper nanoparticles to the terrestrial plants mung bean (*Phaseolus radiatus*) and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*): plant agar test for water-insoluble nanoparticles, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 27–9 (2008) 1915–1921.
- [86] Z. Lei, S. Mingyu, W. Xiao, L. Chao, Q. Chunxiang, C. Liang, H. Hao, L. Xiaoqing, H. Fashui, Antioxidant stress is promoted by nano-anatase in spinach chloroplasts under UV-B radiation, Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 121–1 (2008) 69–79.
- [87] D. Lin, B. Xing, Root uptake and phyotoxiciy of ZnO nanoparticles, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 5580–5585.
- [88] R. Doshi, W. Braida, C. Chirsodoulatos, M. Wazne, G. O'Connor, Nanoaluminum: transport through sand columns and environmental effects on plants and soil communities, Environ. Res. 106 (2008) 296–303.

- [89] S. Asli, P.M. Neumann, Colloidal suspensions of clay or titanium dioxide nanoparticles can inhibit leaf growth and transpiration via physical effects on root water transport, Plant Cell Environ. 32 (2009) 577–584.
- [90] M.L. López-Moreno, G. de la Rosa, J.A. Hernández-Viezcas, J.R. Peralta-Videa, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) corroboration of the uptake and storage of CeO₂ nanoparticles and assessment of their differential toxicity in four edible plant species, J. Agric. Food Chem. 58 (2010) 3689–3693.
- [91] J.G. Parsons, M.L. Lopez, C.M. Gonzalez, J.R. Peralta-Videa, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, Toxicity and biotransformation of uncoated and coated nickel hydroxide nanoparticles on mesquite plants, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29 (5) (2010) 1146–1154.
- [92] M. Khodakovskaya, E. Dervishi, M. Mahmood, Y. Xu, Z. Li, F. Watanabe, A.S. Biris, Carbon nanotubes are able to penetrate plant seed coat and dramatically affect seed germination and plant growth, ACS Nano 3–10 (2009) 3221–3227.
- [93] Q. Liu, B. Chen, Q. Wang, X. Shi, Z. Xiao, J. Lin, X. Fang, Carbon nanotubes as molecular transporters for walled plant cells, Nano Lett. 9–3 (2009) 1007–1010.
- [94] E. Wild, K.C. Jones, Novel method for the direct visualization of *in vivo* nanomaterials and chemical interactions in plants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43–14 (2009) 5290–5294.
- [95] T. Phenrat, H.J. Kim, F. fagerlund, T. Illangasekare, R.D. Tilton, G.V. Lowry, Particle size distribution, concentration, and magnetic attraction affect transport of polymer-modified Fe 0 nanoparticles in sand columns, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 5079–5085.
- [96] K.G. Scheckel, T.P. Luxton, A.M. El badawy, C.A. Impellitteri, T.M. Tolaymat, Synchrotron speciation of silver and zinc oxide nanoparticles aged in a kaolin suspension, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 1307–13142.
- [97] S.R. Kanel, R.R. Goswami, T.P. Clement, M.O. Barnett, D. Zhao, Two dimensional transport characteristics of surface stabilized zero-valent iron nanoparticles in porous media, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 896–900.
- [98] S.H. Joo, S.R. Al-abed, T. Luxton, In fluence of carboxymethyl cellulose for the transport of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in clean silica and mineral-coated sands, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 4954–4959.
- [99] J. Fang, X. Shan, B. Wen, Stability of titania nanoparticles in soil suspensions and transport in saturated homogeneous soil columns, Environ. Pollut. 157 (2009) 1101–1109.
- [100] M. Wiesner, G. Lowry, K. Jones, Decreasing uncertainties in assessing environmental exposure, risk, and ecological implications of nanomaterials, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 6458–6462.
- [101] B.K.G. Theng, G. Yuan, Nanoparticles in the soil environment, Elements 4 (2008) 395–399.
- [102] N.C. Mueller, B. Nowack, Exposure modeling of engineered nanoparticles in the environment, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 4447–4453.
- [103] F. Gottschalk, T. Sonderer, R.W. Scholz, Modeled Environmental concentrations of engineered nanomaterials (TiO₂, ZnO, Ag, CNT, Fullerenes) for different regions, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 9216–9222.
- [104] N.C. Brady, R.R. Weil, The Nature and Properties of Soils, twelfth ed., London, 1999.
- [105] T.K. Darlington, A.M. Eeigh, M.T. Spencer, O.T. Nguyen, S.J. Oldenburg, Nanoparticle characteristics affecting environmental fate and transport through soil, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 28 (2009) 1191–1199.
- [106] N. Solovitch, J. Labille, J. Rose, P. Chaurand, D. Borschneck, M.R. Wiesner, J. Bottero, Concurrent aggregation and deposition of TiO₂ nanoparticles in a sandy porous media, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 4897–4902.
- [107] N. Saleh, H.J. Kim, T. Phenrat, K. Matyjaszewski, R.D. Tilton, G.V. Lowry, lonic strength and composition affect the mobility of surface-modified FeO nanoparticles in water-saturated sand columns, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 3349–3355.
- [108] R. Doshi, W. Braida, C. Christodoulatos, M. Wazne, G. Oconnor, Nanoaluminum: transport through sand columns and environmental effects on plants and soil communities, Environ. Res. 106 (2008) 296–303.
- [109] D. Jaisi, M. Elimelech, Single-walled carbon nanotubes exhibit limited transport in soil columns, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 9161–9166.
- [110] J. Fabrega, J.C. Renshaw, J.R. Lead, Interactions of silver nanoparticles with Pseudomonas putida biofilms, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 9004–9009.
- [111] E. Navarro, A. Baun, R. Behra, N.B. Hartmann, Environmental behavior and ecotoxicity of engineered nanoparticles to algae, plants, and fungi, Ecotoxixology 17 (2008) 372–386.
- [112] S. Ghosh, H. Mashayekhi, P. Bhowmik, B. Xing, Colloidal stability of Al₂O₃ nanoparticles as effected by coating of structurally different humic acids, Langmuir 26 (2010) 873–879.
- [113] K. Yang, D. Lin, B.S. Xing, Interactions of humic acid with nanosized inorganic oxides, Langmuir 25 (2009) 3571–3576.
- [114] W. Yanatasee, C.L. Warner, T. Sangvanich, R.S. Addleman, T.G. Carter, R.J. Wiacek, G.E. Fryxell, C. Timchalk, M.G. Warner, Removal of heavy metals from aqueous systems with thiol functionalized superparamagnetic nanoparticles, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 5114–5119.
- [115] S.H. Joo, D. Zhao, Destruction of lindane and atrazine using stabilized iron nanoparticles under aerobic and anaerobic conditions: effects of catalyst and stabilizer, Chemosphere 70 (2008) 418–425.
- [116] X. Wang, C. Chen, Y. Chang, H. Liu, Dechlorination of chlorinated methanes by Pd/Fe bimetallic nanoparticles, J. Hazard. Mater. 161 (2009) 815–823.
- [117] D.V. Sojic, V.N. Despotovic, N.D. Abazovic, M.I. Comor, B.F. Abramovic, Photocatalytic degradation of selected herbicides in aqueous suspensions of

doped titania under visible light irradiation, J. Hazard. Mater. 179 (2010) 49–56.

- [118] K.D. Grieger, A. Fjordboge, N.B. Hartmann, E. Eriksson, P.L. Bjerg, A. Baun, Environmental benefits and risks of zero-valent iron nanoparticles (nZVI) for in situ remediation: risk mitigation or trade-off? J. Contam. Hydrol., doi:10.1016/j.jconhyd.2010.07.011.
- [119] J.Y. Roh, S.J. Sim, J. Yi, K. Park, K.H. Chung, D.Y. Ryu, J. Choi, Ecotoxicity of silver nanoparticles on the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* using functional ecotoxicogenomics, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 3933–3940.
- [120] T.Z. Pipan, D. Drobne, A. Jemec, T. Romih, P. Zidar, M. Bele, Zinc bioaccumulation in a terrestrial invertebrate fed a diet treated with particulate ZnO or ZnCl₂ solution, Toxicology 269 (2010) 198–203.
- [121] J. Kurepa, T. Paunesku, S. Vogt, H. Arora, B.M. Rabatic, J. Lu, M.B. Wanzer, G.E. Woloschak, J.A. Smalle, Uptake and distribution of ultrasmall anatase TiO2 Alizarin Red S nanoconjugates in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Nano Lett. 10 (2010) 2296–2302.
- [122] Y. Ma, L. Kuang, X. He, W. Bai, Y. Ding, Z. Zhang, Y. Zhao, Z. Chai, Effects of rare earth oxide nanoparticles on root elongation of plants, Chemosphere 78 (2010) 273–279.
- [123] D. Stampoulis, S.K. Sinha, J.C. White, Assay-dependent phytotoxicity of nanoparticles to plants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 9473–9479.
- [124] S. Lin, J. Reppert, Q. Hu, J.S. Hudson, M.L. Reid, T.A. Ratnikova, A.M. Rao, H. Luo, P.C. Ke, Uptake, translocation, and transmission of carbon nanomaterials in rice plants, Small 5 (2009) 1128–1132.
- [125] L. Ajroudi, S. Villain, V. Madigou, N. Mliki, Ch. Leroux, Synthesis and microstructure of cobalt ferrite nanoparticles, J. Crystal Growth 312 (2010) 2465–2471.
- [126] S.S. Banerjee, D.-H. Chen, Grafting of 2-hydroxypropyl-b-cyclodextrin on gum Arabic-modified iron oxide nanoparticles as a magnetic carrier for targeted delivery of hydrophobic anticancer drug, Int. J. Appl. Ceram. Technol. 7 (1) (2010) 111–118.
- [127] K. Gude, R. Narayanan, Synthesis and characterization of colloidal-supported metal nanoparticles as potential intermediate nanocatalysts, J. Phys. Chem. C 114 (2010) 6356–6362.
- [128] W.Y. Hernándeza, M.A. Centeno, F. Romero-Sarria, S. Ivanova, M. Montes, J.A. Odriozola, Modified cryptomelane-type manganese dioxide nanomaterials for preferential oxidation of CO in the presence of hydrogen, Catal. Today, doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2010.03.010.
- [129] A.A. Ismail, T.A. Kandiel, D.W. Bahnemann, Novel (and better?) titania-based photocatalysts: Brookite nanorods and mesoporous structures, J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem., doi:10.1016/j.jphotochem.2010.05.016.
- [130] J.-M. Yan, X.-B. Zhang, T. Akita, M. Haruta, Q. Xu, One-step seeding growth of magnetically recyclable Au@Co core-shell nanoparticles: highly efficient catalyst for hydrolytic dehydrogenation of ammonia borane, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 5326–5327.
- [131] G. Cheng, H. Yang, K. Rong, Z. Lu, X. Yu, R. Chen, Shape-controlled solvothermal synthesis of bismuth subcarbonate nanomaterials, J. Solid St. Chem., doi:10.1016/j.jssc.2010.06.004.
- [132] X. Feng, Y. Tang, X. Duan, L. Liu, S. Wang, Lipid-modified conjugated polymer nanoparticles for cell imaging and transfection, J. Mater. Chem. 20 (2010) 1312–1316.
- [133] K. Margulis-Goshena, E. Kesselmanb, D. Daninob, S. Magdassia, Formation of celecoxib nanoparticles from volatile microemulsions, Int. J. Pharm. 393 (2010) 230–237.
- [134] K.J. Miller, M. Sofman, K. McNerny, M.E. McHenry, Metastable γ-FeNi nanostructures with tunable Curie temperature, J. Appl. Phys. 107 (2010) 09A305, doi:10.1063/1.3334198.
- [135] İ. Özdemir, S. Demir, S. Günal, İ. Özdemir, C. Arıcı, D. Ülkü, Synthesis, characterization and antimicrobial activity of new silver complexes with N-heterocyclic carbene ligands, Inorg. Chim. Acta, doi:10.1016/j.ica.2010.07.034.

- [136] L. Wang, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhu, One-pot synthesis and strong near-infrared upconversion luminescence of poly(acrylic acid)-functionalized YF₃:Yb³⁺/Er³⁺ nanocrystals, Nano Res. 3 (2010) 317–325.
- [137] J.E. Garbarczyk, M. Wasiucionek, P. Jozwiak, J.L. Nowinski, C.M. Julien, Novel nanomaterials based on electronic and mixed conductive glasses, Solid State Ionics 180 (2009) 531–536.
- [138] P. Kumar, K. Singh, O.N. Srivastava, Template free-solvothermaly synthesized copper selenide (CuSe, Cu_{2-x}Se, b-Cu₂Se and Cu₂Se) hexagonal nanoplates from different precursors at low temperature, J. Crystal Growth, doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2010.06.014.
- [139] Q. Wang, L. Jiao, H. Du, W. Peng, Y. Si, Y. Wang, H. Yuan, Facile preparation and good electrochemical hydrogen storage properties of chain-like and rod-like Co-B nanomaterials, Electrochim. Acta, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2010.07.003.
- [140] T. Pojanavaraphan, R. Magaraphan, Fabrication and characterization of new semiconducting nanomaterials composed of natural layered silicates (Nap-MMT), natural rubber (NR), and polypyrrole (PPy), Polymer 51 (2010) 1111–1123.
- [141] A.V. Kadu, S.V. Jagtap, G.N. Chaudhari, Studies on the preparation and ethanol gas sensing properties of spinel ZnO-6MnO 4Fe2O4 nanomaterials, Curr. Appl. Phys. 9 (2009) 1246–1251.
- [142] L. Liu, B. Li, R. Qin, H. Zhao, X. Ren, Z. Su, Synthesis and characterization of new bifunctional nanocomposites possessing upconversion and oxygen-sensing properties, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 285701.
- [143] J. Nan, X.-P. Yan, Facile fabrication of chiral hybrid organic-inorganic nanomaterial with large optical activity for selective and sensitive detection of trace Hg²⁺, Chem. Commun. 46 (2010) 4396–4398.
- [144] N. Dhananjaya, H. Nagabhushana, B.M. Nagabhushana, R.P.S. Chakradhar, C. Shivakumara, B. Rudraswamy, Synthesis, characterization and photoluminescence properties of Gd₂O₃:Eu³⁺ nanophosphors prepared by solution combustion method, Phys. B 405 (2010) 3795–3799.
- [145] M. Feng, Y. Chen, L. Gu, N. He, J. Bai, Y. Lin, H. Zhan, CdS nanoparticles chemically modified PAN functional materials: preparation and nonlinear optical properties, Eur. Pol. J. 45 (2009) 1058–1064.
- [146] S. Deng, G. Ruan, N. Han, J.O. Winter, Interactions in fluorescentmagnetic heterodimer nanocomposites, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 145605, doi:10.1088/0957-4484/21/14/145605.
- [147] S.M. Maliyekkal, K.P. Lisha, T. Pradeep, A novel cellulose-manganese oxide hybrid material by in situ soft chemical synthesis and its application for the removal of Pb(II) from water, J. Hazard. Mater. 181 (2010) 986–995.
- [148] B. Delobel, D. Larcher, J.-F. Blach, L. Croguennec, M. Menetrier, E. Simon, E. Baudrin, One-step precipitation of nanometric LiMO2 powders (M = Co, Fe) in alcoholic media, Solid State Ionics 181 (2010) 623–630.
- [149] M.M. Borgohain, T. Joykumar, S.V. Bhat, Studies on a nanocomposite solid polymer electrolyte with hydrotalcite as a filler, Solid State Ionics 181 (2010) 964–970.
- [150] Z. Fang, S. Wang, L. Zhao, Z. Xu, J. Ren, Q. Yang, X. Wang, Preparation and characterization of acrylic-based luminescent nanomaterials by in-situ emulsifier-free emulsion copolymerization, Mater. Lett. 62 (2008) 1085–1088.
- [151] Q. Gao, F. Chen, J. Zhang, G. Hong, J. Ni, X. Wei, D. Wang, The study of novel Fe₃O₄@g-Fe₂O₃ core/shell nanomaterials with improved properties, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 321 (2009) 1052–1057.
- [152] P. Sun, H. Zhang, C. Liu, J. Fang, M. Wang, J. Chen, J. Zhang, C. Mao, S. Xu, Preparation and characterization of Fe3O4/CdTe magnetic/fluorescent nanocomposites and their applications in immuno-labeling and fluorescent imaging of cancer cells, Langmuir 26 (2) (2010) 1278–1284.
- [153] V.S. Gorelik, Y.P. Voinov, G.A. Emel'chenko, V.M. Masalov, Optical properties of a carbon-zirconia quantum dot photonic crystal, Inorg. Mater. 46 (2010) 505–509.